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Food and Beverage Products Group consist of
following

® Peanuts product under brand MaRuCho cover 8 flavors:
Chicken, Shrimp, Spicy Mexican, Mayonnaise Wasabi, (Thailand market)
and Cheese, Squid, Coconut Cream and Thai Tom Yum Spicy (Export

market) and Himalayan Salt.
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® Pasteurized milk product, rich and mellow taste under brand
HOKKAIDO cover 7 flavors : Original, Matcha Latte, Ceylon Tea, Banana,
Dark Chocolate, Strawberry, White Chocolate and also has Drinking

yogurt, Milk tablet, Ice-cream, Bakery and Beverage.
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wanfasisnwiold 119.51 7.18 125.29 7.70 118.54 8.54
nandueidasiunazindauuas 1,170.46 70.29 1,191.67 73.26 1,032.39 74.37
nansnuaivinaNEren 215.04 12.91 238.31 14.65 192.99 13.90
wARSuTidue 79.33 4.76 68.67 4.22 41.47 2.99
HAN i 60.99 3.66 - - - -
ARIR IV 12.47 0.75 - - - -
swsglaannisaneg 1,657.80 99.55 1,623.94 99.84 1,385.39 99.79
i’]ﬂvl,@falu 7.46 0.45 2.63 0.16 2.86 0.21
37 1,665.26 100.00 1,626.57 100.00 1,388.25 100.00
The sales revenue structure, classified by product group category over 3 years, is as follows:
2019 2018 2017

Product Group Catagory % % %
Wood Preservatives 119.51 7.18 125.29 7.70 118.54 8.54
Insecticides 1,170.46 70.29 1,191.67 73.26 1,032.39 74.37
Shampoos and Washing Liquids 215.04 12.91 238.31 14.65 192.99 13.90
Other Products 79.33 4.76 68.67 4.22 41.47 2.99
Peanuts 60.99 3.66 - - - -
Pasteurized Milk 12.47 0.75 - - - -
Total Revenue from Sales 1,657.80 99.55 1,623.94 99.84 1,385.39 99.79
Other Revenue 7.46 0.45 2.63 0.16 2.86 0.21
Total 1,665.26 100.00 1,626.57 100.00 1,388.25 100.00
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Risk Factors
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1. Risk from new competitors and increased competition

Many types of household chemical products are in a highly competitive
market from both domestic and multinational companies, especially
insecticide and cleaning categories where competition is rather fierce. There
are almost 10 trademarks competing in each product group categories. If
the competition is likely to be more intensified, the result can bring in the
reduction of revenue and profit. Nevertheless, only a few major players
are able to capture a sizeable market share. The reasons behind successful
brands or trademarks of each product are the use of suitable marketing
approaches such as appropriate price for given quality, appropriate budget
allocation for consistency and variety of advertising and promotional
activities in order to build confidence in the products; and the ability to
distribute the products extensively across the nation. As such, newcomers,
and hence new brands, who are looking to succeed in capturing a
bigger chunk of market share will need quite an amount of time for its turn
of opportunity. Especially, insecticide product requires techniques,
know-how, and specialization in formula, research and development, and
must be licensed by FDA, the Ministry of Public Health in order to market
the product meet specified qualification and to ensure its safety and no

environmental impacts.

2. Risk from fluctuation in raw material cost

The cost of raw material is considered the main cost of production,
which accounted for 85.48 percent of cost of goods sold. Thus, the
fluctuation of raw material cost has a direct impact on cost structure and
hence the Company’s performance. Since the Company could not change
its prices to absorb the cost fluctuation immediately. The Active Technical
Material must be imported from various sources. The Company imports
such material from USA, Europe, Japan, India, and China to abide by its
policy to purchase from various suppliers inexclusively, in order to minimize
the risk of scarcity of raw material, as well as to maintain its negotiating
power over price and quality. For other raw materials, such as Liquid
Petroleum Gas (LPG) and solvent, the price fluctuation is out of the
Company’s control since they depend on the world’s demand and supply.
In addition, the Company has the policy to promote product variety to
offer different choices for customers and to spread raw material costs for
the benefit of cost and price management.

The problem of raw material price rising would not be serious as the
possible danger of inadequate stock of raw materials. In order to avoid this
risk, which always incurred at a time of raw materials’ price rising, the
purchasing department has to cope with the situational changes in the
world’s demand and supply, and be able to adjust their inventory stocks,

which are expected to scarce.

3. Risk from fluctuation in the exchange rate

Major part of raw material is Active Technical Material which must be
imported, and the price is being set in US currency. In some cases, the
Company would arrange for short-term currency forward contract prior to

the payment date, especially when the exchange rate fluctuation is expected.
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Even though variation in the exchange rate may directly affect the price of

raw material, it will not significantly affect the gross margin of the Company.

4. Risk from the launch of new product

The Company has a policy to launch at least 2 new products annually.
This policy could incur a risk from the failure in the market penetration of
new product, which could incur a lost in product development resource
and lost in marketing expenses. Additionally, this could lead to the problem
of inventory stock stagnant including raw material and packaging.

However, the Company has strategy to minimize this risk by the
combination launch of new products into sizable market or tiny market
occasionally. This strategy employs the advantage of brands’ loyalty, which
is well accepted by the consumer and network distribution widespread over
the shortest time period.

All distributors in each channel and region would have played a
significant role in minimizing the risk from the launch of new product and
enable the new product to be widely accepted. Moreover, the Company
also has a strategy to develop the new product by utilization of the existing
raw materials and packaging as much as possible to reduce the lost from
the slow move of inventory stock if the new product would not be

successful as expected.

5. Risk from variation in the interest rate

The Company may have risk on interest rate variation from loans from
financial institution. The volatility of interest rate may affect the Company’s
performance. In response to that risk, the Company manages its financial
structure to correspond to the cost structure. Regarding to the various
capital expenditures of the project expansion, the Company tries to use
long-term capital as sources of fund. However, in case of revolving cash for
working capital, the Company uses short-term sources of fund.

At the end of 2019, the Company had Baht 151.69 million of loans
from financial institution. In addition, the Company had more project
investment expansion; as a result, the debt to equity ratio has increased

from 0.47 in 2018 to 0.85 in 2019.

6. Risk from dependence upon specific group of products

Insecticide product group under the brand “CHAINDRITE” has been
the core product of the Company and accounted for 70 percent of total
sales revenue, This could be deemed a risk to rely only on an insecticide
product group if the insecticide won’t be accepted from consumers due to
technology disruption or change of consumer behavior.

However, to reduce this risk, the Company has tried to expand
into cleaning product group under the brand “TEEPOL” more and more
comprehensive. Moreover, the Company has entered into food and
beverage businesses by manufacturing and marketing roasted peanuts
under the brand “MaRuCho”, and pasteurized milk products under the

brand “HOKKAIDO” to lower the risk of over-dependence upon specific

@

product group.
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1 Ut flete Liwees Teans $7fn 208,215,842 69.41
2. wsamUinn gana 16,000,000 5.33
3. wieuy iy HITuved 6,888,400 2.30
4. wwdnus lnuagissn 6,107,600 2.04
5. wwusuns asglnaa 5,950,000 1.98
6. wwlwma fgvdiusna 4,740,000 1.58
7. UEATIIRN YAl qﬁﬂqa 4,540,000 1.51
8. U3t laflinned Suwediutuuua S1in 2,800,000 0.93
9. wwesivu iund 2,150,000 0.72
10, wadsy sundy 1,822,200 0.61
59U 259,214,042 86.41

List of the Company’s top ten shareholders per registration book as of August 28, 2019

Name No. of shares % of shareholding

1. TOA Venture Holding Co., Ltd 208,215,842 69.41
2. Ms. Palita Kusakul 16,000,000 5.33
3. Mr. Bunwan Worathamthongdee 6,888,400 2.30
4. Mr. Nipon Komolsuvan 6,107,600 2.04
5. Mr. Narin Trisukosol 5,950,000 1.98
6. Mr. Paisan Pisutvacharakul 4,740,000 1.58
7. Ms. Yaowaluck Utiskul 4,540,000 1.51
8. Life Saver International Co., Ltd 2,800,000 0.93
9. Mr. Harkichin Thanwanee 2,150,000 0.72
10. Mr. Pongtawat Cheeranavanich 1,822,200 0.61
Total 259,214,042 86.41
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Mr. Chanin Yensudchai

Position

Chairman of the Board
of Director an

Independent Director

Number of
Ordinary Shares

December 28, 2018

Increase/
(Decrease) in
shares held

during a year

Number of
Ordinary Shares
August 28, 2019

% of
shareholding

Dr. Vichit Yamboonruang

Director and Independent

Director

Mr. Chinawat Assavapokee

Director and Independent

Director
Mr. Prachak Tangkaravakoon Director 800 - 800 0.00
Mr. Vonnarat Tangkaravakoon Director 481,600 - 481,600 0.16
Dr. Narongrit Tangkaravakoon Director 2000 (2,000) - -
Mr. Narin Trisukosol Director 6,000,000 (50,000) 5,950,000 1.98
Dr. Somchai Laohverapanich Director - - - -

Mr. Thongchai Charoenkulmetee

Director and Chief

Executive Officer
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(Board of Directors)
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(Nomination and (Audit Committee)
Remuneration Committee)
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(Executive Committee) (Internal Audit Office)

$ecccccccccccscccccce

LavIuNIsusun
(Company Secretary) (Chief Executive Officer)
YR Wafigns sl 193nals
(Mr. Thakerngbol Laobisuddhi) (Mr. Thongchai Charoenkulmetee)
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(Chief Commercial (Chief Financial (Chief Business (Chief Operation
Officer) Officer) Development Officer) Officer)
Enwnisumnu) weiaiowa diigu’ wedyse ginisnag Wgase Isnaaulyn
1185998 LW3ynaLE (Mr. Thakerngbol Laobisuddhi) (Mr. Watchara Suwatwalapongs) (Mr.Satit Jirakulsomchok)
(Mr. Thongchai Charoenkulmetee)
(Acting)

WON.N8UTUE

(Accounting Manager)
wgnany Junszna
(Mr. Chandech Pantrakul)
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The composition of directors

The Company’s article of association has stated that the Company
shall have one board of directors, composing of at least 5 persons. The
directors, among themselves, shall appoint the chairman of the directors
and may appoint the deputy chairman of the directors, the Chief Executive
Officer, and other positions deemed appropriate. Moreover, more than half
of the directors must be a residence of Thailand.

The appointment of the Company’s Board of Directors

The Company has Nomination and Remuneration committee in the
appointment of the Board of Directors. However, the shareholder’s meeting
will appoint the Board of Directors under the following criteria and methods:

1. Each shareholder shall have a number of votes equaling the
number of shares he holds. One share equals one vote.

2. Each shareholder shall vote for one candidate at a time.

3. After the vote, the candidates shall be ranked in descending order
from the highest number of votes received to the lowest and shall be
appointed as directors in that order until all of the director positions are
filled. Where the votes cast for candidates in descending order are tied,
which would otherwise cause the number of directors to be exceed, the
chairman or the meeting shall make the final decision.

The dismissal of directors

1. At every annual ordinary meeting, one third of the directors shall
retire form office. If the number of directors cannot be divided into exactly
three parts, they shall retire by the number nearest to one third, The directors
who retire from the position may choose to take the position again.

2. Aside form retirement upon due time, the directors may be retired
from office upon (1) death (2) resign (3) lack of qualification or possess any
characteristic prohibited by the law governing public Company limited
(4) the resolution of the shareholders’ meeting to resign (5) court order to
resign.

3. Any director with an intention to resign should file a resignation
letter to the Company. The resign is effective since the date of filing the
resignation letter. The resigned director should inform the Registrar for
acknowledgement.

4. In case of vacancy in the Board of Directors for reason other than
the retirement by rotation, the Board of Director may elect a person who
has the qualifications and possesses no prohibited characteristics prescribed
by the law governing public company as the substitute director at the next
board meeting, by a vote of not less than three quarters of the number or
directors remaining, unless the remaining term of office of the said director
is less than two months. The substitute director shall hold office only for
the remaining term of office of the director he replaces.

5. The shareholders’ meeting may pass a resolution removing any
director from office prior to retirement by rotation, by a vote of not less
than three quarters of the number of shareholders attending the meeting
who have the right to vote and have shares totaling not less than half of

the number of shares held by the shareholders attending the meeting and

®

having the right to vote.
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The composition and appointment of the Audit Committee

The Company’s Board of Directors shall appoint the Audit Committee
by electing a person who has the qualification prescribed by the
announcement of the Stock Exchange of Thailand at least 3 persons and
must be independent directors.

The composition and appointment of the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee

The Company’s Board of Directors shall appoint the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee by electing a person who is non-management
director at least 3 persons and at least a person must be independent
director.

The Company’s management structure comprises of the Board of
Directors, the Audit Committee, Nomination and Remuneration Committee

and Executive Committee with the names and responsibilities as follow:
1. Board of Directors as of December 31, 2019

1. Mr. Chanin Yensudchai Chairman of the Board

of Directors and Independent

Director
2. Dr. Vichit Yamboonruang Independent Director
3. Mr. Chinawat Assavapokee Independent Director
4. Mr. Prachak Tangkaravakoon Director
5. Mr. Vonnarat Tangkaravakoon Director
6. Dr. Narongrit Tangkaravakoon Director
7. Mr. Narin Trisukosol Director
8. Dr. Somchai Laohverapanich Director
9. Mr. Thongchai Charoenkulmetee  Director and Chief

Executive Officer

Mr. Thakerngbol Laobisuddhi is the Secretary to the Board of Directors.
Please see more detail in Board of Director and Management’s Profile.

The Authorised Signatory

The authorised signatory comprises of Mr. Prachak Tangkaravakoon
and Mr. Vonnarat Tangkaravakoon jointly sign with the company’s seal.

Authority and Responsibilities of the Board of Directors

® To perform duties within the scope of the law, objectives, and
company regulations, together with Board and shareholders’ resolutions
with duty of loyalty, duty of care, accountability, and ethics with due regard
for the equitable interests of all shareholders.

® To define the Company’s vision, strategies, business plans, and
budgets annually and monitor the Company’s performance in various aspects
constantly to ensure goal achievement and timely handling of obstacles.

® To define and review the corporate governance policy and anti-
corruption policy on yearly basis.

® To ensure that the Company has a suitable and efficient internal
control system compliance with the acceptable standard and disclose
internal control report in the annual report.

® To define a risk management policy and a suitable risk management
framework and monitor the efficiency of risk management periodically as

well as disclose the risk management system in the annual report.
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® To appoint committees, with authority to appoint their chairmen
of the Sub-Committee if needed, to support its performance as necessary
and as seen appropriate, with regular monitoring of such committees.

® To oversee innovations and technologies to key resource allocation
to supplement sustainable value to the stakeholders. Oversee and promote
the use of innovation and technology for resources allocation in order
to create sustainable value to the business and create benefits for all
stakeholders.

® To oversee and monitor IT management & development and IT
security system. Oversee and monitor the management and development
of Information Technology and its security measure in accordance with the
current IT risk.

® To ensure the preparation and disclosure of financial statements
with an accurate and timely and in compliance with the relevant regulations
and practices.

® Establish criteria and procedures for nomination of directors and
Chief Executive Officer that are transparent and determining remuneration
and performance evaluation annually as well as monitoring the succession
plan for directors and Chief Executive Officer.

® To arrange business operation in accordance with the good
corporate governance principle and encourage communication for
acknowledgement to all staffs.

® To define an authority and responsibilities of the Chairman of the
Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer clearly

® The Board of Directors may appoint Chief Executive Officer or
any person to conduct the Company’s business under supervision of the
Board or may delegate authority to that person as it deems appropriate
and within an appropriate timeframe. The Board may revoke or alter that
authority. However, the delegation of authority from the Board to the
appointed person(s) will exclude the power to approve any related
transactions or any transactions that may have conflict of interests.

® To oversee a structure and composition of the Board of directors.

® To monitor and ensure efficient policies and guideline of manage-
ment.

® To consider and review the charter of the Board of Directors and
Sub-committee annually.

® To appoint the company secretary on behalf of the Company or
the Board of directors to be responsible for various aspects such as director
registration, notice of the Board of directors’ meeting and the shareholder’s
meeting, etc.

® To report on one’s own portfolio of company’s securities, as well
as those of their spouses and minor children not yet of legal age, and to
report the change of own portfolio of company’s securities to the Securities
and Exchange Commission within 3 business days after the change.

® To maintain the Company’s inside information obtained from their
job performance and refrain from exploiting such information for personal
or other parties’ gains. Undertake no securities transactions at least 1 month
prior to announcement of financial statements and at least 3 days after

such announcement.

®
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2. The Audit Committee as of December 31, 2019

1. Dr. Vichit Yamboonruang Chairman of the Audit
Committee
2. Mr. Chanin Yensudchai Member of the Audit Committee

3. Mr. Chinawat Assavapokee Member of the Audit Committee

Mr. Thakerngbol Laobisuddhi is the Secretary to the Audit Committee.

Authority and Responsibilities of the Audit committee

® To ensure that the Company correctly and completely reports its
financial status by coordinating with the auditor and the management
responsible to prepare the financial reports both quarterly and annually.
The Audit Committee may request the auditor to review or audit any
transactions which are materially significant.

® To ensure that the Company has an effective and efficient internal
control, internal audit system, and risk management.

® To ensure that the Company abided by the Securities Exchange Act
and rules and regulations of The Stock Exchange of Thailand or other laws
governing its operation.

® To consider, select, dismiss and propose the appointment of the
auditor of the Company and to consider the auditor’s compensation by
taking into account the credential, supporting staffs, capacity and experience
of the auditing office.

® To consider, select, dismiss and propose of the internal auditor

® To fully disclose information on related transactions and those with
potential conflicts of interest.

® To prepare Audit Committee report by disclosing in annual report
and certified by Chairman of Audit Committee.

® To review the internal control related to the anti-corruption
measures.

® To supervise all directors, executives, and employees to strictly
comply with the company’s anti-corruption policy.

® To consider that the whistle blowing of anti-corruption.

® To perform any duty assigned by the Board of Directors with the
consent of the Audit Committee.

3. The Nomination and Remuneration Committee as of

December 31, 2019
(o)
Chairman of the Nomination

1. Mr. Chinawat Assavapokee
and Remuneration Committee

2. Mr. Vonnarat Tangkaravakoon Member of the Nomination and

Remuneration Committee

3. Dr. Narongrit Tangkaravakoon Member of the Nomination and

Remuneration Committee

Mr. Thakerngbol Laobisuddhi is the Secretary to the Nomination and

Remuneration Committee.
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Authority and Responsibilities of the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee

® To specify qualifications of any person to be nominated for
Directorship, Chief Executive Officer, and Sub-Committee to align with
Company’s business strategies and lay down the director nomination process
to replace the retiring director by considering diverse candidates with skills,
experience, and expertise that are beneficial to the Company.

® To Identify qualified candidates to replace directors retiring at the
end of their terms, or whatever the case may be, with the diversity of the
structure of the Board taken into account, and submit a list of nominees to
the Board of Directors and/or Shareholders’ Meeting for resolution.

® To review and give advice to the Board of Directors on the structure,
roles and responsibilities, and practices of the Board of Directors and the
Sub-committees.

® To review and give advice an alteration to the Charter of the Board
of Directors and the committees, the recommendations in keeping it
up-to-date.

® To recommend a plan for succession of the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer and the top executives to the Board of Directors for
consideration.

® Torecommend the director’s remuneration policy based on duties
and responsibilities in line with the Company’s operating results and
performance in order to motivate and foster them. Director’s remuneration
will be approved by the Board of Directors before proposing this to the
shareholders’ meeting for approval.

® To assess the performance of Chief Executive Officer on an annual
basis in order to determine his/her remuneration before proposing this to
the Board of Directors for approval.

® To review, study, and track regularly the changes and trends in
remuneration of the Board of Directors in comparison with the related
industry or similar business in order to create incentives for the Company’s
continuing development.

® To report regularly on progress and performance results to the
Board of Directors after every meeting of the Remuneration Committee.

® To assess the performance of the Remuneration Committee and
report the assessment results to the Board of Directors for acknowledgement

® To perform other duties as assigned by the Board of Directors.
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4. The Company’s Executives as of December 31, 2019

1. Dr. Somchai Laohverapanich Chairman of the Executive

Committee

2. Dr. Narongrit Tangkaravakoon Member of the Executive

Committee
3. Mr. Thongchai Charoenkulmetee ~ Member of the Executive
Committee

4. Mr. Thakerngbol Laobisuddhi Member of the Executive

Committee

5. Mr. Satit Jirakulsomchok Member of the Executive

Committee

Authority and Responsibilities of the Executive Committee

® To define policies, targets, strategies, operational plans, annual
budget and managing authority to propose to the Board of Directors for
approval.

® To oversee business operations according to the policies of the
Company, targets, strategies, and annual budget as approved by the Board
of Directors in an efficient manner and corresponding to the condition of
the business as well as provide consultant, recommendation, management
to members of senior management.

® To consider capital expenditure or financial transaction with
financial institutions for opening a loan account, pledge, mortgage, loan
guarantees and other transactions, including any trading/registered land
to propose to the Board of Directors for approval.

® To define organizational structure and efficient management and
administration, covering recruitment, training, hiring and termination of
employees, who are executives or top executives, to propose to the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee for approval.

® To consider all types of works proposed to the Board of Directors,
except for work under responsibilities and/or authority of other Committees
who shall consider and submit to the Board of Directors directly.

® To perform other duties as assigned by the Board of Directors.

5. The Company’s Executives as of December 31, 2019

1. Mr. Thongchai Charoenkulmetee  Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Commercial Officer (Acting)

2. Mr. Thakerngbol Laobisuddhi Chief Financial Officer

3. Mr. Watchara Suwatwalapongs Chief Business Development

Officer
4. Mr. Satit Jirakulsomchok Chief Operation Officer

5. Mr. Chandech Pantrakul Accounting Manager



ulgulgnsogouduwa
Dividend PO hcy

LR

Uismilsnedreiuiunaludasildsnindesar 40 veartilsavEnd
nBuazd1senung g wail msdedutunaldihdedesne wiiansan
Us2nauU U NansAuNULar§ILEN1SRLYEIUTEY anMAes N15YLILTINT
uazdadudug Mfedodunisuimsnuenin Tnsegaeldifeulaiinmsdiiu

msfnanassesneliiinysslevigeannodionu

Dividend payout policy is at a minimum of 40% of net profit after tax
and legal reserve. Declaration of the dividend shall take into account the
operating result, financial status, liquidity, business expansion, and other
factors related to the operation of the Company, and under the conditions

that maximize the benefit to the shareholders.
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The Board of Directors recognize the importance of an internal control
by emphasizing on the efficient and adequate internal control system for
business operation to maximize management efficiency as well as assets
monitoring, reduction in possible errors, the Company’s damage prevention,
financial management, risk management, operation supervision, which
reasonably ensure that the Company can operate as expected and
maximized the added value in long run. The Board of Directors appoints
the Audit Committee to review the assessment results to ensure that the
internal control system supports the Company’s effective and efficient
operations, provides accurate and reliable reporting, and is in compliance
with relevant laws and regulations.

In 2019, the Board of directors endorsed the Audit Committee’s report
on the assessment result by the Office of the Securities and Exchange
Commission of Thailand (SEC) is employed to assess the Company’s
internal control system, under framework of the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), which details are as

follow:

1. Organization and Environment

The Company determines business goals which are accurate, clear,
possible and measurable. Moreover, a clear chain of command and dele-
gation of authority were defined to supports the goals. There are regulations
and penalties to prohibit executives and employees from possible conflict
of interest. The Company enforces its business Code of Conduct to its
employees and requires full compliance by them, and continues to

underline the importance of integrity and accountability to stakeholders.

2. Risk Management

The Company always went through the risk assessment, both internal
and external business risks. Top management in each division and
department will analyze risk factors and clearly define the acceptable
level of risk and communicate to all employees for practices their work in

order to ensure the Company’s objective achievement.

®
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3. Management Control

The Company has control activities by utilizing of Key Performance
Indicator (KPI) as instrument for planning and controlling. Separation of
duties and responsibilities were applied in creating the basis for checks and
balances. It also published the Manual of Authorities that included the
establishment of different level of approval authorities and monetary
limits, which were documented and clearly defined. Documents were
prepared for delegation of responsibilities as well as responsible persons in
case of mistakes and the Company’s assets being protected from loss or
improper utilization by several measurements. Company’s benefit or
opportunities were properly protected against exploitation. Prescribed
measures were implemented to ensure that the Company complied with
relevant laws and regulations. Control measures were also in place to
monitor all transactions with related parties such as directors to prevent
interests transfer. The controlling procedure shall be done by passing those
transactions through approval process of independent directors or
authorized persons, who are freely from conflict of interests. Disclosure of
related party transactions shall be completed as in accordance with the
regulations of Office of the Securities and Exchange Commission, Thailand
(SEQ) as well as the accounting standard as designated by the Association

of Accountants and Auditors of Thailand.

4. Information and Communication

The Company provides enough information systems to ensure that
decisions of Directors and Management are made based on adequate,
accurate and reliable information. Directors’ opinions are recorded in the
minutes of meeting. Accounting documents are filed systematically in

accordance with the accounting system for the purposes of business policy.

5. Monitoring

The Company uses a follow up system comparing each quarter’s goal,
which is examined by the internal audit, by reporting the performance
directly to the Audit Committee. When significant errors are encountered,
the Internal Audit must immediately inform the Committee concerned, as
well as the updated error correction report.

The Audit Committee appointed the P&L Internal Audit Company
Limited as an internal audit which was considered qualification and
independence to the responsibility of the internal audit of the Company.
The internal audit of the Company has a direct quarterly reporting line to
the Audit Committee. The qualifications and experience of the Company’s
Internal Audit appear under “Board and Management Profile”. However,
the appointment, evaluation, dismissal, transfer or employment termination

of the Internal Audit Supervisor must be approved by the Audit Committee.
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The Company realizes the importance of the Good Corporate
Governance and establishes the good governance policy, adhered in
practice for stakeholders. The Good Corporate Governance was complied
with the implementation of the Corporate Governance Code 2017 (CG Code),
which was established by the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC)
through means that are suitable to the company’s business. The Company
trains all staffs to be consciously aware of business ethic in treating
customer, trading partners, competitors, society, colleagues with virtue,
transparent, as role model, social responsibility, honesty, equality, right; and
right of staffs, Directors, shareholders, trading partners until it turn into the
Company organization’s cultural strength. In addition, the Good Corporate
Governance Policy and Code of conduct were publicized on Company’s
website (www.sherwood.co.th) to stakeholders can access it. In 2018 the
Company was evaluated on Corporate Governance by the Thai Institute
of Directors Association (IOD) The score was on “Very Good” (4 STAR)
benchmark. The Company’s Corporate Governance on 2019 detailed below:

1. Rights and Equitable Treatment of Shareholders
The Company’s Board of Directors is aware of ownership right in controlling
the company through appointment of the Board of Directors to act on
behalf of shareholders and maintains the right to decide on the major change
of the Company’s Board of Directors. Therefore, it seeks to support the
shareholders to exercise their rights as bestowed upon by the stipulated
basic shareholders’ right which are the right to buy, sell, or transfer stocks,
sharing profit, receipt of adequate information regarding the business, and
the shareholders should learn about the rule and procedure in attending
the shareholders’ meeting and permitting adequate information for consid-
eration before the meeting. This also includes the opportunity to query the
Directors during the meeting. The Company’s Board of Directors is aware
and put the emphasis on the importance of shareholders’ right. It seeks not
to infringe upon or evict the shareholders’ right.

The 2019 Annual General Meeting of Shareholder was arranged on 26
April 2019 at 10.00 am., while the venue was selected based on the con-
venience of both shareholders and institutional investors.

Moreover, the Company proceeds to send the AGM invitation at least
21 days prior to the meeting and 30 days on Company’s website with the
details of meeting agenda, along with Directors’ opinions, the details of
agenda to consider the important reasons, positive and negative impact in
each agenda, authorization documents in formats as defined by laws, and
the map of place for meeting. The invitation was also announced through
daily newspaper for a minimum of 3 consecutive day, and 3 days before
the meeting day, to allow time for shareholders of the incoming meeting.

The Company proposed to shareholders can request for additional
meeting agenda, as well as nomination of candidate for the post of director
nominee in advance during on 7 January 2020 to 8 February 2020. The
Company established the transparent procedures and criteria and publicized
them on the company’s website and notified the shareholders through the
Stock Exchange of Thailand. However, there was no shareholder who

requested for additional meeting agenda and the nomination of candidate

for the director nominee. @
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For the registration for meeting, the Company will prepare to serve
the shareholders with the staffs and adequate number of computer and
use barcode system to facilitate the shareholders. Moreover, the company
will start to enroll at least 2 hours prior beginning of meeting and continue
to do so until the finish meeting. Any shareholder who is unable to attend
a meeting is entitled to appoint a representative, e.g., an independent
director or other person, to act as proxy, using the proxy form attached to
the notice of the meeting. The Company has prepared the proxy forms in
compliance with the specifications defined by the Ministry of Commerce
whereby the shareholders can exercise their voting rights as wished. The
Company provided the duty stamp to be sealed on the proxy form without
charge. Shareholders who arrive after the meeting has commenced are able
to vote on the agenda item being considered provided that a resolution is
not yet made. Late-arriving shareholders shall constitute part of the quorum
starting from the agenda item for which they are in attendance and can
exercise their voting rights unless the meeting states otherwise.

Prior to the meeting, the Chairman will start to explain the method
of voting and counting. The counting of vote will be illustrated and the
results of every step in the meeting room will also be summarized. In the
voting, the shareholders used barcode system to count vote more rapidly
and efficiently. The Company will collect the voting card only in case there
is shareholder who vote against or abstain from voting, and in the Board of
Directors’ election agenda, to be in line with the best practice of shareholders’
meeting, the Company proceeded the voting of Directors will be voting for
each Director. Moreover, the Company has requested an accounting auditor
to join the vote counting procedure and confirmed the result with accuracy,
transparency, and in accordance with the Company’s regulation. For the
result of voting in each agenda, the Company immediately announced the
result of vote in each agenda of each shareholder’s resolution regardless
of whether the vote result shows on outcome of agree or disagree.

The Board of Directors moderate the shareholders’ meeting according
the agenda announced earlier in the meeting’s invitation document, and
will not add any agenda to the meeting without informing shareholders
in advanced, so that the shareholders have enough time to study the
information of the operation performance to be considered in each agenda
adequately and suitably. In the meeting, the Board of Directors will allow
chance for shareholders to answer to the inquiry, by having the Chairman,
Sub-committee chairman, Chief Executive Officer, senior executives in
accounting and finance to jointly answer. However, in replying to the
inquiry, the Board of Directors will adhere to the equal opportunity to the
Company’s information.

After the meeting, staffs will collect the voting card for all agenda to
evidence. Moreover, the Board of Directors arranges to have the accounting
auditor to witness the voting count for transparency. The Company’s Board
of Directors assigned the Company’s secretary to prepare and write the
meeting report with accuracy and complete, and the disseminate the
meeting report to all shareholders through investor relation website and
the Company also submitted the report to the Stock Exchange of Thailand
within 14 days after the date of meeting. Moreover, the Company also
broadcasts picture and sound of the shareholders’ meeting on the investor

relation website to allow interested shareholders to view the past meeting.
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2. Role of Stakeholders

The Company has placed the importance to the rights of all
stakeholders in providing clear and fair guidelines for all groups of
stakeholders in the code of conduct. The Company’s executives and
employees have acknowledged and strictly respected the criteria which
covers key practices based on scope of responsibility of all involved persons
and on fairness. The Company carefully considered the stakeholders’
legal rights to ensure all stakeholders were treated equally and fairly. The
Company’s treatment on its stakeholders were as follows:

® Shareholders

The Company has conducts the business and respects the rights of
shareholders and equitable treatment with transparency, credibility and
determination in enhancing sustainable and secured financial position to
increase its share value.

® Employees

The Company has recognized the importance of employees who are
a pivotal factor for success, The Company practices towards employees to
ensure fair treatment base on Human rights principle. The Company always
supports personnel improvement both in-house and external training and
takes care of health and safety in workplace. Employee remuneration
committee was set up to protect employees’ rights. In addition, it provided
appropriate and fair returns and welfare to all employees such as medical
treatment expenses, service buses, birthday parties, associations &
assemblies for relaxation and entertainment to pay back for employees’
full intention in their performances.

Moreover, employees are annually evaluated with Key Performance
Indicators (KPI) to motivate them who dedicate their performance efficiently
to lead a maximum benefits of the Company and achievement of business
targets. The Key Performance Indicators (KPI) of the Company consist
financial and Non-financial performance indicators. However, the Company
manages the provident fund and savings and credit cooperative for
employee in order to enrich their living and provide security.

® Clients

The Company has aimed to develop quality of its products and
services which worth the price, quality, safety, and also had been tested
and proven safe by the experts in both technology and environmental
preservation.

® Partners / Suppliers

The Company has provided fairly treatment with accountability and
transparency to its lenders in accordance with the stipulations of contracts
and financial obligations. It strictly avoided unfair conducts, and also
abstained from hidden information or facts that might cause damages to
the lenders.

The Company has compiled with trading terms and offered accurate
information in order to foster good relations and mutual understanding.
There were also exchanges of knowledge and the joint development of
goods and services in order to increase the value of those goods and
services. The Company would not demand, accept or consent to the receipt

of the other properties or benefits accruing outside trade agreements.

®
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® Competitors

The Company has strictly followed competition rules. The Company
will not spy on or fraudulently seek competitors’ secrets and not damage
its relationship with the competitors and their reputation.

® The public sector or Government

The Company adheres to file tax accurately and strictly complies the
public sector or Government with all relevant laws, criteria, rules and
regulations.

® Communities and Society

The Company has a policy to do business in a way that benefits
the economy and the society, aiming to create a balance between
business growth, community development, social development, and good
environmental practice. The Company aims to safeguard local customs and
to be a good corporate citizen by complying with applicable laws and
regulations.

® Environment

The Company realizes to social and environment responsibilities.
The Company has policy of quality, safety occupational health and
environment for all employees and has policy to use resources effectively
and efficiently. The Company controls and manages waste from the
production process and general consumption as well as contamination
released into the atmosphere through the use of efficient technology
and close monitoring. The Company has already registered to 1SO 14001
certification, which is the standard for environmental management systems
for reducing of impact to environment.

3. Disclosure and Transparency

The Company recognizes the importance of information disclosure
because it greatly affects decision-making of investors and stakeholders.
The Company’s Information was disclosed via the SET Portal of the Stock
Exchange of Thailand and Company’s website shall be complete, accurate,
and timely manner both financial or non-financial whether positive or
negative.

The Company has assigned the “Investor Relations Department” to
communicate and provide information and news on the Company’s
activities to shareholders, analysts, and general public. Investors could
contact the department at Tel. 0-2320-2288 or via e-mail address: ir@sher-
wood.co.th

Moreover, The Company has whistleblowing and whistleblower
protection measures in the Code of conduct. The company provided a
channel for the employees and stakeholders to report whistleblowing or
complaint:

® Sending through their complaint in the suggestion box at the office
and factory

® Sending through their complaint via E-mail: internalaudit@sherwood
co.th or companyseretary@sherwood.co.th

® Sending through their complaint via post to Internal Audit or
Company Secretary

Sherwood Corporation (Thailand) Public Company Limited

1065 Srinakarin Rd., Suanluang Suanluang Bangkok 10250

If the company secretary receives the whistleblowing, He/she will
directly report to the Board of Directors. In 2019, there were 2 complaints

from stakeholders which were appropriately responded.
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The Board of Directors is also responsible for the financial statements
of the Company and financial information appearing in the annual report.
The financial statements here in the annual report are prepared according
to generally accepted accounting principles in Thailand, using the
accounting policy that is suitable as practice regularly and with careful
discretion together with the best projections in the preparations, including
disclosure of the important data adequately in the added notice section
supplementing the financial statements.

4. Prevention of conflicts of interest and utilization of Internal
Information

The Company determined preventive measures to tackle the use of
inside information to benefit Directors and executives by announcing to
all parties concerned to be aware of role and duty to report the status
of security holding of each individual and spouse, children who holds
security whose ages are not considered sui juris and acknowledge the change
in security prepared report for each time there is buy, sell, transfer, or receive
of security to the Security Exchange Commission according to the Article
59 of Security Exchange Commission Act (B.E. 2535) within 3 days after the
date of purchase, sell, transfer, or receive the transfer of security. The
Company always alert in the meeting of Board of Directors. Moreover, the
Directors and management also acknowledge the duty and responsibility
as stipulated and penalty as stated in Security Exchange Commission Act
(B.E.2535), and the Company prohibited the management who know the
inside information of the Company to not violating article 241 of the
already-mentioned law, including the related regulation.

To prevent conflict of interest, the Board of Directors carefully
supervised when there is item that may result in conflict of interest, the
Company seeks to stipulate the policy and procedure of related item
approval in written form, including the policy and method of supervision
so that the management and related persons will not use inside information
to their own benefits, as follows:

The Board of Directors has learned of the items with conflicts of
interest and the connected transactions and has considered appropriately
each time. The Audit Committees will present to the Board of Directors
regarding the transactions that may have conflict of interest. It includes
complying with the criteria of the Stock Exchange of Thailand (SET) on
the price and item as if it were on an arm’s length basis. The detail,
value, contract partner, reason/necessity of such connected items that are
essential shall be disclosed in the annual report and the annual information
form.

In the meeting of Board of Directors, should the Directors have
interest in the decision, the Chairman of the Board will request for Directors
to abiding to the regulation and have Director informed to the meeting and
is asked not to vote or voice opinion for the matter.

The Company has the policy of the conflicts of interest, confidentiality,
inside information and protection of property. This also includes exposure
of financial document or other related documents for outsider, and
also prohibits the trading activity within 1 month prior to public release of
financial information. If done so, the act can be considered “misconduct”

to the Company’s rule of conducts.

®
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5. Anti-corruption

The Company conducts business with adherence to ethics, anti-
corruption and responsibility for all concerned parties. Therefore,
the Company has policy for anti-corruption and published to directors,
management and employees for practice guidelines. The Company
recognizes the importance of the anti-corruption policy so, the management
communicates to employees with training courses, Basic principles of good
practice for Anti-Corruption and Risk assessment and management planning.

6. Code of Conduct

The Company has prepared the Code of Conduct for employees to
achieve operations. The new employee will receive the Code of Conduct
to learn and practice suitable on the first date of work.

7. Responsibilities of the Board

The structure of the Company Board

The Board of Directors consists of business professionals with
experience and proven expertise from various fields. They understand what
their responsibilities are as company directors and what the nature of
the company’s business. The Board of Directors had assigned company’s
vision, mission, Corporate Governance policy, code of conduct, employee
manual. They are free to voice opinions and approve matters for the best
interest of the company.

Balance of authority

Presently, the Board of Directors comprises of 9 directors:

® 7 non-executive directors who are 3 independent directors

® 2 Executive Director

The Company has 3 independent directors which are complied with
the criteria of the Securities and Exchange Commission that determine
independent director must be a minimum one-third of the Board of Direc-
tors.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee selects directors from
qualified, visionary and ethical individuals of different professions. Duties
and responsibilities of all committees are clearly defined by the Board of
Directors. The Chief Executive Officer, in the capacity of the head of the
management, is appointed by the Board of Directors to oversee the conduct
of business and the operation of the company in order to achieve the goals
set and in accordance with the policies established by the Board of Directors.

Directorial term

Directors serve the term specified under the Company regulation. They
may be re-elected upon the completion of a term.

The Board of Directors’ Meetings

The Board of Directors places great significance on its meetings, and
meeting attendance is regarded as a principal duty for each director, so that
the company’s important matters can be decided upon. The Company
usually pre-determines the dates and times of its quarterly meetings
throughout the year. The Company’s Secretary sends out invitations to the
meeting along with the agendas, the minutes of the previous meeting and
relevant documents to the directors 7 days prior to the meeting for an
appropriate consideration. Every year the Board of Directors reviews and
approves the Mission, Vision, Core Values, the annual business plan and
budget to guideline management for the next year. Moreover, The Directors

will consider the company’s performance to monitor carrying out actions
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that are in line with the designated policies in the Board of Directors’
meeting. The Chairman of the Board of Directors acts as the chairman of
the assembly. Directors are allowed to give their opinions freely and
welcomed to propose additional agendas and give their opinions openly.

At the end of each meeting, the Company’s Secretary is responsible
for preparing the meeting minutes, and having them endorsed by the
Chairman of Board of Directors. The minutes are presented to assembly for
certification as the first agenda of the following meeting. Directors can give
opinions and request amendments as necessary.

Certified meeting minutes are systematically kept at the office of the
company in electronic form, together with documents supporting each
agenda for ease of reference.

In 2019, the meeting of the Board of Directors was held 8 times and
the votes are more than two-third of all directors.

The management is required to report progress and the performance
of the Company to the Board of Directors on a quarterly basis in order to
consider with annual target and strategies.

Company'’s Secretary

The Company appointed the qualified person to take the duty of the
Company’s Secretary in order to ensure efficient compliance with the good
corporate governance principle.

The duties of this position are as follows:

1. To arrange and collecting document are as follows:

(A) Directors Register

(B) Notice of the Meeting of Directors, Resolution of the Board of
Directors’ Meeting and Annual Report

(O) Notice of the General Meeting of Shareholder and Minutes of the
General Meeting Shareholders

2. To keep the report of conflict of interest and re-inform when it
changes

3. To perform other duties as required by the Capital Market
Supervisory Board

4. To perform other duties as assigned by the Board of Director

Roles, duties and responsibilities of the Board of Directors

Leadership and vision

The Board of Directors must be comprised does not exceed the
number of five individuals. The required qualifications for each director are
as follows:

(1) An individual of juristic age

(2) Must not be bankrupt, incompetent or quasi-incompetent

(3) Must never be imprisoned by a final verdict in connection with a
fraudulent act

(4) Must never be handed punishment or removed from an
organization or a government office, in connection with a fraudulent act

Sub-committee

The Board of Directors has appointed sub-committee to help
assure shareholders of transparency and good corporate governance.
Sub-committees report directly to the Board of Directors. Sub-committees
of the company include the audit committee and the nomination and

remuneration committee. Their authority and responsibilities are

@

independent of each other for the purpose of corporate governance.
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® The Audit committee

The Audit Committee comprises three independent directors, all of
whom are well accepted and have a full understanding of, and experience
in, accounting or finance. In 2019, the meeting of the Audit Committee was
held 8 times.

® The Nomination and Remuneration committee

The Nomination and Remuneration committee comprises 3 non-
executive directors. The Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee is an independent director. In 2019, the meeting of the Nomi-
nation and Remuneration Committee was held 4 times.

Evaluation of the Board of Directors

In 2019, the Board of Directors made the performance evaluation for
reviewing performance, as well as issues and obstacles facing in the past
year. It also helps increase the operational effectiveness of the Board.
Moreover, the evaluation of the President is considered by The Nomination
and Remuneration Committee and the evaluation is related to annual
performance and plan of the Company. The performance appraisal outcome,
dictating the pay rise for the President, is presented to the Board for further

approval.

Remuneration of company directors and executives

® Remuneration of company directors

We have a nomination and remuneration subcommittee. The amount
of remuneration is determined by the committee in accordance with the
procedure established which bases upon the performance of the Company
and compares with other companies in the same industries and proposed
to shareholder meetings for their approval. Remuneration is paid in the
form of meeting allowance per attendance of each director and monthly
remuneration. Directors who are of a subcommittee are also compensated
for their duty as a member of subcommittee in the form of meeting
allowance per attendance. The annual shareholders general meeting
on April 26, 2019 has approved a total amount of 7,231,075 Baht in
remuneration for directors per year. Remuneration for each director is
detailed in the annual report and the 56-1 Form.

® Remuneration of company executives

Company executives are remunerated according to company policy

and based on the company performance and their individual performance.

Table of the Remuneration for the Board of Directors and the Subcommittees in 2019

Meeting Allowance (Baht)

Yearly The Nomination The Audit The Board
Name Remuneration and Commitee of Directors
(GEL) Remuneration
Commitee

1. Mr. Chanin Yensudchai 345,000 70,000 200,000 809,625
2. Dr. Vichit Yamboonruang 330,000 100,000 140,000 647,700
3. Mr. Chinawat Assavapokee 300,000 60,000 140,000 647,700
4. Mr. Prachak Tangkaravakoon 180,000 160,000 647,700
5. Mr. Vonnarat Tangkaravakoon 180,000 160,000 647,700
6. Dr. Narongrit Tangkaravakoon 180,000 160,000 647,700
7. Dr. Somchai Laohverapanich* 60,000 40,000
8. Mr. Narin Trisukosol 80,000
9. Mr. Thongchai Charoenkulmetee*
10. Mr. Prasopsan Ratchataphut** 90,000 20,000 107,950
11. Mr. Sirinat Chayanan** 80,000

1,665,000

230,000 1,180,000 4,156,075

Remark  * Director appointed in 2019

** Director resigned in 2019

Remuneration of Board of Directors and Audit Committee includes meeting fee and bonus

Total remuneration of management is Baht 15,106,382

Remark management in accordance with the notification of the SEC

Remuneration of management includes salary, bonus, and provident fund contribution.

Other Remuneration

- No -



Development programs for company directors and executives

The Company places great importance on helpful seminars and
training programs that will help directors and executives to perform better
in their positions. Selected company personnel attended the Audit
Committee Program (ACP), the Director Accreditation Program (DAP), the
Director Certification Program (DCP), the Role of the Compensation
Committee (RCC) and the Role of the Chairman Program (RCP) by the Thai
Institute of Directors (I0D), as well as other mini courses which contribute
to their performance of directorial duties. We will continue to enroll our
directors in future 10D courses.

Combination or separation of positions

The Company has made this a policy that the Chairman of the Board
of Directors shall not be the same individual who positions as the
Chief Executive Officer, to ensure the check and balance and, so, made
reviewing of work more transparent. The Chairman takes the lead in
defining company policy under the strategies jointly considered and
established by the Board and the management and ensures that the Board
meetings are successfully conducted. In each meeting, all Directors are
urged to actively participate, as well as raising essential questions. Directors
also occasionally meet to advice and support the business management
with the chief executive officer. At the same time, the Board is to stay away
from routine day-to-day operations or business activities responsible
by management, where the chief executive officer is the head of the
management team. The Board of Directors has authorized the chief
executive officer or the authorized person to sign in binding document as
has been directly authorized. Chief Executive Officer then effectively au-
thorizes and empowers the high executives the tasks which are clearly
marked in term of line of duty and responsibility. Therefore, the authority
and role of the Board and that of the management are clearly defined and
separated. Moreover, the Chief Executive Officer does not take position as
a director of the other companies in order to operate the management

efficiency.

Internal control and risk management system

The Board of Directors appreciates the importance of the control
system in the operation, the finance and the governance. The authority to
give approvals is assigned to staff of different levels, with an internal audit
unit in place to monitor the functioning of this system. The Company has
been serviced by P&L Internal Audit Co., Ltd., who is an internal audit unit
of the company, to audit and control operating system of the company.
This internal audit unit is independent in its tasks and with absolute check
and balance capability. The internal audit unit is required by the Board of
Directors to report directly to the Audit Committee and the Chief Executive
Officer. The Audit Committee is in charge of ensuring the suitability and the
efficiency of the internal control system. Measures are in place to mitigate
risks and these are reviewed regularly, based on warning signs and significant
anomalies.

In summary, the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors agreed
that the internal control system of the company is suitable and sufficient.
The report of the Audit Committee can be found in the annual report and

the 56-1 form.
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Business Performance

In 2019, The Company and its subsidiary had a total sales revenue
of Baht 1,657.80 million, increased by Baht 33.85 million or 2.08 percent
as compared to the same period in the previous year since the Company
has expanded its business into food and beverage industry by manufacturing
and marketing roasted peanuts under the brand “MaRuCho” and pasteurized
milk products under the brand “HOKKAIDO”. However, the Company has
continued to focus on sales revenue growth for household chemicals,
industrial and agrochemicals, as well as increasing the distribution to
cover more retail stores and continuously developing other products to
increase sales opportunities for the Company. The sales revenue was
classified as Baht 119.51 million from wood preservative products group
or equivalent to 7.21 percent of total sales revenue, Baht 1,170.46 million
from insecticide products group or 70.60 percent of total sales revenue,
Baht 215.04 million from cleaning products group or 12.97 percent of total
sales revenue, Baht 79.33 million from other products group or 4.79 percent
of total sales revenue due to increasing number of agrochemical’s sales
by reinforcement of more salespeople to cover sales territory, Baht 60.99
million from peanut products group or 3.68 percent of total revenue and
Baht 12.47 million from pasteurized milk products group or 0.75 percent of
total revenue additional new products as well as business expansion of its

subsidiaries.

The Company'’s total cost of goods sold in the year 2019 was Baht
992.41 million or 59.86 percent of the total sales revenue, which decreased
from the previous year at 60.63 percent of the total sales revenue since
the Company has increased the selling price of wood preservative and soil
treatment termiticide products group. However, the Company has compared
the price index with competing products in determining the strategy of
product price adjustment in order to minimize the impact on sales volume
as well as the reduction of sales promotion from on-pack premiums
transforming to other attractive promotional program. Moreover, the
Company also reduced the cost of packaging while maintaining the same
quality. In addition, the Company still continues to focus on selling a high

margin items.

Selling and distribution expenses were Baht 284.31 million, increased
by Baht 5.08 million or 1.82 percent as compared to the same period
in the previous year since the Company has expanded the business
and increase in marketing promotional expenses in modern trade and
traditional trade stores for household chemical products as well as food

and beverage products.

Administrative expenses were Baht 168.56 million, increased by
Baht 41.35 million or 32.51 percent as compared to the same period in the
previous year due to increase number of employees to support the business
expansion and the increase in travel to market expenses, including the

provision of employee benefit according to the new Labor Protection ACT

®

as well as the adjusting accounting entries.



mlsgnisinvesuism Tull 2562 iy 171.30 &wmun uazll 2561
WAL 185.66 a1UUIN ﬁ%aﬁmﬁuﬁmwﬁﬂsgw%‘%amz 10.33 uaz 11.43

909578 l@anNTUNE ANEIaU
JIuzAISLoU

- o 4o ae an o e
SULBAITINZNIINITLET 04 TUA 31 Sunam 2562 LSENHRUNITNATIH
WinAY 1,298.14 S1UUN 1KY 353.07 Euun wiatAindudaluloea:
37.36 iaulguiuisnafediuuedt 2561 Inafidunindnywdam winmy
920.74 A UL WANYU 300.39 EuUn WiaNIudaTuSanas 48.42 &
- o4 e Y X
AUARANINNPUIARAZTIEMAABVYIS U WIAY 214.77 Suun 1A
& o a4 A X oa = v A o~ Y
AU 94.64 AN WiainIuAduSpuaz 78.77 Haleuduaisian
Weaiupeell 2561 anmanIusesiufdnanamunaiunalily
- X, X . Y L ¥
MIvenegIna gnuinisfiuasanuidudiuam 457.32 &uum sl
249.68 UL WinmuIuAadusasa: 120.25 aldsuiuaiaa
Wenuaeell 2561 Wasunansaauiefinnduiniugiclasung 4 vaell
Tupnznduananialannu 236.96 a1UUIN anad 43.13 a1UUIN W30

o _a o

anasAaiusaaay 15.40 wWinsannlull 2561 Tievasinaauidnaingls

q
'

UszmedimadFuneniagelu usEnasdsgalandueninaul Linaiasiu

€

)

€

anAueafon dmIuaunIndlivywden vinfu 377.39 Sruum i
5

269 auuIn wiamnIuAndulasaz 16.23 WHawWleudualsan

2D,

1%

a o ~ o Ao Vv a o

LPEINWUD L 2561 L‘H@ﬁzﬂﬂ‘]_lﬁEW]VL@Nﬂ']ﬁ"ll?_ﬂﬁﬁqﬁﬂquﬁUﬂaqﬁﬁTWﬂ?iNaW%'ﬁ
a4 A a o o I TS B a o

LAZLASRIRN LazuSEn ganlnle ‘1{&@1 WOUA LWNWLIBLTA ANA BILUUDIEN

dasvasuiEn dhamulunguuisv senlnle Gehgsfauuniaaedlsd

o JuN 31 Sunan 2562 USEMANAEN a1u1 594.91 E1ULIN AN

9 Y
= A & A

3 291.60 &UUIN WIatANTuAaduSpuaz 96.14 iaauiuEIean

Wenuaell 2561 laafndaunuuiden 311U 553.28 81ULN LANTU

3

268.41 duum Waeuiumenandsaiusedd 2561 Wasanidudis

v o a_ Ao a & A v &
5583a%'ﬁﬂﬂaﬂ?‘].luﬂ’]iL\‘i%%%"liﬁlﬂ%ﬂ?iﬂﬁ’mﬁqiﬂa FINYIN HINGNITILINAU

v a

P o & o oA & a0 o Ha \ a
M3 IUNTTIT INNAUUAZUTTAN TR N LLazmwwwuauvagunw

q q

T 41.63 BIULIN LANTY 23.19 AL e uiuaI9aLReNu
2097 2561 ANN13E1909NaYIzleIIIZTE1IVDINTINIIUATHNG A Y
%juma@Ll,iwmaﬁ’ulmiﬁLﬂuﬁw%miﬁﬂéﬁm@ummamﬁtﬁﬂﬁw

A @

o Jud 31 Sunau 2562 UiEmilaurasdteviu Wiy 703.22 &1u

gy
v

YN AN 61.47 B1uun vanuduAadusesaz 9.58 Liaiiaunurae
nadeaiuest 2561 Wlunasnanduvesiiaduvesuismensn 632.83

v o ° =] =3 ° v o v Qgi a
auun vantumladeisiasananiulawan 164.60 811U TIHN9 H

v o

msldansFaviuaniymuluddyuansdns SWC-W1 uasdaunuainns

q

nelaglEiumdunug 1w 8.23 Suum vindraduiiung 2 saudiuu

11251 §uum AumAdIuYIilaviuasUTEMaNIU 693.16 auLm

The Company’s total net profit in 2019 was Baht 171.30 million. In
2018, the total net profit was Baht 185.66 million or 10.33 percent and

11.43 percent respectively.
Financial Position

The statement of financial position as of December 31, 2019, the
Company had total assets Baht 1,298.14 million, increased by Baht 353.07
million or 37.36 percent as compared to the same period in the previous
year. Current assets were Baht 920.74 million, increased by Baht 300.39
million or 48.42 percent as compared to the same period in the previous
year due to cash and cash equivalent, equaled Baht 214.77 million, increased
by Baht 94.64 million or 78.77 percent compared to the same period in the
last year from the increase in loans from financial institutions for business
expansion. Trade and other receivable amounted Baht 457.32 million,
increased by Baht 249.68 million or 120.25 percent as compared to the
same period in the previous year due to the increase in fourth-quarter sales,
while inventories amounted to Baht 236.96 million, decreased by Baht43.13
million due to in 2018 the Company had over-stocked of raw materials to
prevent raw materials shortage since the price of imported raw materials
from abroad had increased dramatically. Non- current assets were Baht
377.39 million, increased by Baht 52.69 million or 16.23 percent as compared
to the same period in the previous year due to the Company expanded
its business into food and beverage industry, and Hokkaido Food and
Beverage Company Limited., a subsidiary Company, also invested in the

Hokkaido Group (pasteurized milk business).

As of December 31, 2019, the Company had liabilities Baht 594.91
million, increased by Baht 291.60 million or 96.14 percent as compared
to the same period in the previous year, with current liabilities amount
Baht 553.28 million, increased by Baht 268.41 million or 94.22 percent as
compared to the same period in the previous year due to the increase in
short-term loans from financial institutions used for business expansion
and the increase in trade accounts payable for purchasing raw materials
and packaging. Non-current liabilities amounted to Baht 41.63 million,
increased by Baht 23.19 million as compared to the same period in the
last year because of the provision of employee benefit according to the

new Labor Protection ACT.

As of December 31, 2019, the Company had shareholder equity
amounted Baht 703.22 million, an increase of Baht 61.47 mllion or 9.58
percent from the previous year. This is from beginning shareholders’
equity of Baht 632.83 million, combined with Baht 164.60 million from
the total comprehensive income for the year including the exercise of
the warrants SWC-W1 and capital reserve for share-based payment
transactions amount Baht 8.23 mllion deducted 2 rounds of dividend
payments of Baht 112.51 million. Thus, the remaining balance was Baht

693.16 million.
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Liquidity and Cash Flow

The Company’s net cash flow from operating activities in 2019 was
Baht 91.73 million, a decreased by Baht 31.00 million or 25.26 percent as
compared to the same period in the previous year consisting of operating
profit before changes in operating assets and operating liabilities of Baht
284.24 million. The operating assets increased by Baht 226.11 million
and the operating liabilities increased by Baht 65.50 million. Net cash flow
used in investing activities was Baht 31.55 million and net cash flow from
financing activities was Baht 37.02 million which came from short-term
loans from financial institutions for business expansion. As of January 1,
2019, the Company had cash and cash equivalents Baht 120.14 million.
As a result, the remaining cash balance of the Company as of December

31, 2019, amounted to Baht 214.77 million.

In 2019, the Company had a current ratio lower than that in 2018. The
current ratio decreased from 2.18 times to 1.66 times due to an increase
in short-term loans from financial institutions. The quick ratio in 2019

increased from 2018. The quick ratio increased from 1.19 times to 1.24

times due to the decrease in inventory.
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The Board of Directors of Sherwood Corporation (Thailand) Public
Company Limited resolved in the appointment of the Company’s Audit
Committee which consists of three individual — Dr. Vichit Yamboonruang,
Committee Chairman, Mr. Chanin Yensudchai and Mr. Chinawat Assavapokee,
Committee Members. Each of the Committee are independent director.

In 2019, the Audit committee held 8 meetings among committee
members, and higher management in the areas of accounting and finance,
internal audit, and accounting audit. The issues of discussion are as follows:

The Audit Committee has reviewed financial statement on a
quarterly basis and annual financial report for the year 2019 of the
Company prior to submitting the document to ensure the financial report
is conducted in accordance with generally accepted accounting standard.
This only includes a proper, adequate, timely release of financial information,
through cooperative meeting among accounting audit, management,
accounting department, and internal audit team to consider financial report
on quarterly basis and annual financial report to enquire complete, correct,
and proper openness, as well as the adjustment of item that might affect
the financial report in an important way.

The Audit Committee has undertaken the review of financial and
accounting review jointly with accounting audit, management, accounting
and financial department, internal audit team to review accounting policy
and practices, estimation, and determination of business key index to allow
a measurable operating outcomes in a clearer manner.

The Committee has reviewed the operational audit plan for the
year 2019. The Committee acknowledged and recommended guideline to
solve the weak spot in internal control system to allow better and more
effective internal audit. The Committee also jointly reviewed the plan for
annual audit for the year 2020 which determined the risk that may occur
and could directly affect financial statement and the Company’s operation.

The Audit Committee agreed that the preparation and exposure of
Company’s financial information are correct, complete and reliable. The
Company has also performed in accordance with regulations stipulated by
authority. Moreover, the Company’s internal control system has no items
that may be affected significantly and all mentioned matters have already
been reported to the Company’s Board of Directors.

The Audit Committee has considered and proposed to the Board
of Directors that Mr. Supachai Phanyawattano (Certified Public Accountant
N0.3930) and/or Ms. Krongkeaw Limkittikul (Certified Public Accountant
No.5874) and/or Mr. Natthawut Santipet (Certified Public Accountant
No.5730) by appointing any one of the following auditors from the EY Office
Limited be nominated as the Company’s auditor for the year 2020 and also
considered the remuneration with the total audit fee of Baht 1,360,000 at

the annual general meeting of shareholders.

(Dr. Vichit Yamboonruang)
Chairman of Audit Committee
(Mr. Chanin Yensudchai) (Mr. Chinawat Assavapokee)

Member of Audit Committee Member of Audit Committee



SIYVIUADIUSURQBDUUDVATUINSSUNISUSENCIDS180IUNIVNISLOU
Report of the Board of Directors Responsibilities for Financial

Statements

AnznssunsusEndudSuinveursaunisiuveauidn wedin
AosUaLsTU (Usemelng) $1in (uvnww) siuda doyaasaumnanisnisduiiusng

>
o & o

lusrnulszdnd wnsiudainandaiduauunsgunsiydsusesinll e

£

A D v A A awa ° D aa '
Lﬁf]ﬂI‘ULlIfJ‘U’]EJUEU%‘VIWHJ’WGMLLﬁ%‘:ﬂE]"LJQUGYeJEﬂQﬁQJ’]LﬁﬂJEJ LLﬁBSL‘U@ﬁEJWuﬂE)ﬂ'N

Sad -

sednsrTauaUsuanansiidngaiunisdari sauvis Wnsdamedeya

o

dfny
' P a 4 9 v g €1 va v )
agafissnelununemnusznevaun1siu iWeliduusslenisertiovu wazin
amuinlusgnalusdla
ANzNIIUNISUTIAdalTissuuUImsadss waslitinsmsesnu
W3sszvumuauaeluiivinzauwazivszdning disliiiulaldegrsdivenadn
Joyanatydliaugnieansuiiuuaziisanevgmsesnunl IBmingdu naon

oA

suifiglliAnnsyaianiensiuiiunsiiinunfegisdianszddy

Tunsil psgnssunsusSnlduainanssumsnsanaou ileviuti
aounuuleuen1s Uy TuazAMAINUDITTULIIUNIINITRY @0UNIUITZUUNIT
muaunelukazmsnsasoumely saeasuszUUMIUIIANLEs: Tngaany
Wiuresnnznssumsnssaeuisatutest Ynnglusenuvesnmenssuns
ay1vaey dauandlilusmsnulsyslinia

wnsRuvesUTEnldsunsasvaeulnedaeutnyvesuitnie uem
dinau 871e $1in lunsesasaeuti meauznssunisussnldatuayutoya
LAZLONEAIAII Lﬁaiﬁéaauﬁzy%mmmmsmaau uazLAnIALAUlA A
wasgunsaeudnyd lnsanuiiuvesaeutadliusnglusenuvesiseuday?
FauanslTlumenuusz i

AMENIIUNMSUTENIAuTiu ssuunsmuauaeluresu3dnlagsan

agluszduiimelawavanunsaannudeiiuegalmvenalddn sunstiuves

%

U wetin mesuaistu (Ussimelny) in (maw) dwmsudaugaiud 31
Sunew 2562 Tenudiotiels lnedoufuRnuunasgiunsUnTnsusesild uas

UfuRgndewnungmneuazngsuifeuiieites

(Werdiuns 1Hugala)

U5e51UnTIUNST

a

(unesede 3naALE)

Usesrudmtiniusvng

The Company board is responsible for financial statement of
Sherwood Corporatiom (Thailand) Public Company Limited including
financial information presented in an annual report. The financial statements
have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles. The Company chooses the most appropriated accounting prac-
tice and uses it as a standard practice. The practice is ensured an ample
extent to which information disclosed for the benefit of shareholders and
investors.

The Company board organizes all effective risk management system
and internal control system. This is to ensure accuracy, completeness,
and sufficient information of the financial statement and to prevent any
corruption.

The Company board has appointed an Audit Committee to
responsible for an auditing process both for financial statements and for
internal checking and monitoring. This, in another way, is to have a risk
management system. The Audit Committee’s report is presented in the
annual report.

The Company’s financial statements have been audited by the
EY Office Limited. Along the auditing process, the Company gave a full
support or required documents. The auditor’s report on auditing matter is
presented in the annual report.

The Company board considers that the internal control is in
satisfying level and is able to guarantee that financial statements of
Sherwood Corporatiom (Thailand) Public Company Limited as of December
31, 2019 are credible according to accounting standards, and related

law and regulations.

(Mr. Chanin Yensudchai)

Chairman of the Board of Directors

(Mr. Thongchai Charoenkulmetee)
Chief Executive Officer
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Sherwood Corporation (Thailand) Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries

Report and consolidated financial statements 31 December 2019

Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholders of Sherwood Corporation (Thailand) Public Company Limited

Opinion

| have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements
of Sherwood Corporation (Thailand) Public Company Limited and its
subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2019, and the related consolidated
statements of comprehensive income, changes in shareholders’ equity and
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and have
also audited the separate financial statements of Sherwood Corporation
(Thailand) Public Company Limited for the same period.

In my opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly,
in all material respects, the financial position of Sherwood Corporation
(Thailand) Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries and of Sherwood
Corporation (Thailand) Public Company Limited as at 31 December 2019,
their financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in

accordance with Thai Financial Reporting Standards.

Basis for Opinion

| conducted my audit in accordance with Thai Standards on Auditing.
My responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section
of my report. I am independent of the Group in accordance with the Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants as issued by the Federation of
Accounting Professions as relevant to my audit of the financial statements,
and | have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. | believe that the audit evidence | have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.

Emphasis of matter

| draw attention to Note 9.3 to the consolidated financial statements. In
July 2019, Hokkaido Food and Beverage Company Limited, the Company’s
subsidiary, invested in ordinary shares of Hokkaido Morimoto Co., Ltd.,
Hokkaido International Franchise Co., Ltd. and TTD Holding Company
Limited (“Hokkaido Group”). At present, the subsidiary company is in the
process of assessing the fair values of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed of Hokkaido Group as at the acquisition date. My opinion
is not modified in respect of this matter.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in my professional judgement,
were of most significance in my audit of the financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of my audit
of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming my opinion thereon,
and | do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

I'have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of my report, including in

relation to these matters. Accordingly, my audit included the performance

o

of procedures designed to respond to my assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements. The results of my audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matter
below, provide the basis for my audit opinion on the accompanying
financial statements as a whole.

Key audit matter and how audit procedures respond for the matter are

described below.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from sales is significant to the financial statements. Moreover, the
Company has sales transactions with a large number of customers under
a variety of conditions, pertaining to matters such as sales promotions,
discounts and special discounts to boost sales. As a result, revenue from
sales is a significant account which directly affects the Company’s operating
results.

I have examined supporting documents, on a sampling basis, for actual sales
transactions occurring during the year and expanding the scope of audit
near the end of the reporting period. | also sent confirmation requests for
the amounts of sales to major customers and examined credit notes issued
by the Company after the period-end. In addition, | performed analytical
procedures on disaggregated data to detect possible irregularities in sales
transactions throughout the period, particularly for accounting entries made

through journal vouchers.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information
comprise the information included in annual report of the Group, but does
not include the financial statements and my auditor’s report thereon. The
annual report of the Group is expected to be made available to me after
the date of this auditor’s report.

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information
and | do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is
to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or my
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.

When | read the annual report of the Group, if | conclude that there is a
material misstatement therein, | am required to communicate the matter

to those charged with governance for correction of the misstatement.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance
for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in accordance with Thai Financial Reporting Standards,
and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.



In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concemn
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group
or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s

financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Thai Standards
on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Thai Standards on Auditing, | exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout
the audit. | also:

® Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intention-
al omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

® Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

® Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
management.

® Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If | conclude that a material uncertainty exists, | am required to
draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my
opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may

cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

® Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

® Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial infor-
mation of the entities or business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. | am responsible for the
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. | remain solely
responsible for my audit opinion.

| communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
| identify during my audit.

| also provide those charged with governance with a statement that | have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on my independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, |
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matter. | describe this matter in my auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, | determine that a matter should not be communicated in
my report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasona-
bly be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such commu-
nication.

| am responsible for the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report.

Natthawut Santipet

Certified Public Accountant (Thailand) No. 5730
EY Office Limited

Bangkok: 28 February 2020
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Sherwood Corporation (Thailand) Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries

Statements of financial position
As at 31 December 2019

(Unit: Baht)

Consolidated financial statements Separate financial statements

B

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 214,773,102 120,136,539 172,449,497 117,924,309
Trade and other receivables 6,7 457,316,393 207,639,056 455,574,907 214,287,941
Short-term loans to subsidiary 6 - - 81,000,000 -
Inventories 8 236,956,298 280,089,348 196,057,442 261,606,187
Other current assets 11,694,909 12,489,865 8,146,692 9,639,049
Total current assets 920,740,702 620,354,808 913,228,538 603,457,486

Non-current assets

Investments in subsidiaries 9 - - 2,276,600 1,276,900
Other long-term investments 189,700 - - -
Property, plant and equipment 10 335,239,497 311,629,396 313,828,099 311,537,534

Excess of acquisition cost over estimated

value of interest acquired in net assets of

subsidiaries 9 16,072,563 - - -
Intangible assets 11 6,200,569 7,306,011 5,968,106 7,306,011
Deferred tax assets 21 14,586,380 4,862,363 13,268,762 4,862,363
Other non-current assets 5,105,899 909,191 987,465 449,400
Total non-current assets 377,394,608 324,706,961 336,329,032 325,432,208
Total assets 1,298,135,310 945,061,769 1,249,557,570 928,889,694

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.



Sherwood Corporation (Thailand) Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries

Statements of financial position (continued)

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity

Current liabilities

Bank overdrafts and short-term loans from
financial institutions

Trade and other payables

Short-term loans from other persons

Short-term loan from director

Current portion of long-term loans from
financial institutions

Income tax payable

Other current liabilities

Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Long-term loans from financial institutions,
net of current portion

Provision for long-term employee benefits

Other non-current liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

Total liabilities

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

As at 31 December 2019

15

16

(Unit: Baht)

Consolidated financial statements Separate financial statements

145,971,339 - 144,000,000 -
342,279,858 248,457,012 326,934,336 248,512,080
5,626,869 - - -
451,327 - - -
2,368,926 - - -
42,620,325 22,640,276 41,602,212 19,057,118
13,959,738 13,771,673 12,083,501 13,626,479
553,278,382 284,868,961 524,620,049 281,195,677
3,352,115 - - -
36,385,086 18,444,684 33,835,384 18,444,684
1,896,655 - - -
41,633,856 18,444,684 33,835,384 18,444,684
594,912,238 303,313,645 558,455,433 299,640,361




Shareholders’ equity
Share capital

Registered

Sherwood Corporation (Thailand) Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries

Statements of financial position (continued)
As at 31 December 2019

465,000,000 ordinary shares of Baht 0.50 each

(2018: 150,000,000 ordinary shares

of Baht 1 each)

Issued and fully paid-up

306,666,400 ordinary shares of Baht 0.50 each

(2018: 150,000,000 ordinary shares

of Baht 1 each)

Share premium

Capital reserve for share-based payment

transactions

Retained earnings

Appropriated - statutory reserve

Unappropriated

Other components of shareholders’ equity

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

Non-controlling interests of the subsidiaries

Total shareholders’ equity

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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19

Directors

(Unit: Baht)

Consolidated financial statements Separate financial statements

232,500,000 150,000,000 232,500,000 150,000,000
153,333,200 150,000,000 153,333,200 150,000,000
90,933,200 87,600,000 90,933,200 87,600,000
1,567,374 - 1,567,374 -
23,250,000 15,000,000 23,250,000 15,000,000
427,003,586 376,450,836 426,618,596 376,372,257
(2,922,733) 3,775,794 (4,600,233) 277,076
693,164,627 632,826,630 691,102,137 629,249,333
10,058,445 8,921,494 - -
703,223,072 641,748,124 691,102,137 629,249,333
1,298,135,310 945,061,769 1,249,557,570 928,889,694
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1,657,798,974

7,462,442

1,623,947,230

2,625,579

2562

1,549,560,011

3,309,398

=

1,589,089,776

4,560,791

1,665,261,416

1,626,572,809

1,552,869,409

1,593,650,567

992,407,532
284,306,569

168,562,279

984,595,839
279,225,541

127,207,559

928,061,826
259,378,334

148,450,945

972,155,134
265,762,983

122,444,839

1,445,276,380

1,391,028,939

1,335,891,105

1,360,362,956

219,985,036 235,543,870 216,978,304 233,287,611
(4,022,744) - (3,656,647) -
215,962,292 235,543,870 213,321,657 233,287,611
(42,777,214) (47,496,595) (42,325,318) (45,451,167)
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(2,566,895) (453,401) - -
(4,877,309) - (4,877,309) -
(7,444,204) (453,401) (4,877,309) -
165,740,874 187,593,874 166,119,030 187,836,444
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Sherwood Corporation (Thailand) Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries

Statements of comprehensive income

For the year ended 31 December 2019

Profit or loss:
Revenues
Sales
Other income
Total revenues
Expenses
Cost of sales
Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses
Total expenses
Profit before finance cost and
income tax expenses
Finance cost
Profit before income tax expenses
Income tax expenses 21
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income:
Other comprehensive income to be reclassified
to profit or loss in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation of
financial statements in foreign currency
- net of income tax
Other comprehensive income not to be reclassified
to profit or loss in subsequent periods:
Actuarial loss - net of income tax
Other comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

Consolidated financial statements

1,657,798,974

7,462,442

1,623,947,230

2,625,579

(Unit: Baht)

Separate financial statements

1,549,560,011

3,309,398

1,589,089,776

4,560,791

1,665,261,416

1,626,572,809

1,552,869,409

1,593,650,567

992,407,532
284,306,569

168,562,279

984,595,839
279,225,541

127,207,559

928,061,826
259,378,334

148,450,945

972,155,134
265,762,983

122,444,839

1,445,276,380

1,391,028,939

1,335,891,105

1,360,362,956

219,985,036 235,543,870 216,978,304 233,287,611
(4,022,744) - (3,656,647) -
215,962,292 235,543,870 213,321,657 233,287,611
(42,777,214) (47,496,595) (42,325,318) (45,451,167)
173,185,078 188,047,275 170,996,339 187,836,444
(2,566,895) (453,401) - -
(4,877,309) - (4,877,309) -
(7,444,204) (453,401) (4,877,309) -
165,740,874 187,593,874 166,119,030 187,836,444




Sherwood Corporation (Thailand) Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries

Statements of comprehensive income (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2019

(Unit: Baht)

Consolidated financial statements Separate financial statements

Profit attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 171,302,750 185,660,972 170,996,339 187,836,444

Non-controlling interests of the subsidiaries 1,882,328 2,386,303

173,185,078 188,047,275

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company 164,604,223 186,105,814 166,119,030 187,836,444
Non-controlling interests of the subsidiaries 1,136,651 1,488,060

165,740,874 187,593,874
Earnings per share 22

Basic earnings per share
Profit attributable to equity holders of

the Company 0.57 0.62 0.57 0.63

Diluted earnings per share
Profit attributable to equity holders of

the Company 0.44 - 0.44 -

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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143,771,716 - 144,000,000 -
(903,768) - - -
6,666,400 - 6,666,400 -
(112,514,377) (374,958,972) (112,514,377) (374,958,972)
300 500 - -
37,020,271 (374,958,472) 38,152,023 (374,958,972)
(2,566,895) (453,401) - -
94,636,563 (113,804,948) 54,525,188 (112,708,899)
120,136,539 233,941,487 117,924,309 230,633,208
214,773,102 120,136,539 172,449,497 117,924,309
2,568,697 364,730 2,568,697 364,730



Sherwood Corporation (Thailand) Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries

Cash flow statements

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before income tax

Adjustments to reconcile profit before income tax

to net cash provided by (paid from) operating activities:

Depreciation

Amortisation

Allowance for doubtful accounts

Allowance for diminution in value of inventories
(reversal)

(Gain) loss on sales of equipment

Unrealised loss on invesments in trading securities

Unrealised (gain) loss on exchange rate

Gain on debt forgiveness

Share-based payment transactions

Provision for long-term employee benefits

Interest expenses

Profit from operating activities before changes in

operating assets and liabilities

Operating assets (increase) decrease

Trade and other receivables
Inventories
Other current assets

Other non-current assets

Operating liabilities increase (decrease)

Trade and other payables
Other current liabilities
Payment of long-term employee benefits

Other non-current liabilities

Cash from operating activities

Cash paid for interest expenses

Cash paid for corporate income tax

Net cash flows from operating activities

For the year ended 31 December 2019

(Unit: Baht)

Consolidated financial statements Separate financial statements

215,962,292 235,543,870 213,321,657 233,287,611
22,902,822 22,944,380 20,380,515 22,943,042
1,427,775 1,337,904 1,337,905 1,337,904
16,504,785 1,087,451 14,036,662 1,065,334
14,243,250 (325) 12,604,632 (325)
58,010 (277,166) 58,010 (277,166)

- 4,911,392 - 4,911,392

(3,123) 9,234 (395,997) 598,704
(4,631,780) - - -
1,567,374 - 1,567,374 -
12,188,266 1,925,808 9,562,244 1,925,808
4,022,744 - 3,656,647 -
284,242,415 267,482,548 276,129,649 265,792,304
(260,592,822) (43,514,255) (254,928,524) (43,143,587)
32,121,694 (94,992,729) 52,944,113 (95,708,494)
382,814 7,316,208 1,512,737 8,518,894
1,981,962 53,064 (538,065) -
68,738,809 32,316,918 75,524,412 34,516,707
(2,593,869) 4,092,159 (1,542,978) 4,026,569
(344,500) (1,520,310) (268,180) (1,520,310)
(297,262) - - -
123,639,241 171,233,603 148,833,164 172,482,083
(3,678,328) - (3,312,230) -
(28,232,038) (48,507,114) (26,987,676) (48,206,146)
91,728,875 122,726,489 118,533,258 124,275,937

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Sherwood Corporation (Thailand) Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries

Cash flow statements (continued)

Cash flows from investing activities
Increase in investments in subsidiaries
Decrease in investments in trading securities
Increase in other long-term investments
Increase in short-term loans to subsidiary
Net cash payment for purchases of investments
in subsidiaries
Proceeds from sales of equipment
Cash paid for acquisition of plant and equipment
Cash paid for acquisition of intangible assets
Net cash flows from (used in) investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Increase in short-term loans from financial institutions
Decrease in long-term loans from financial institutions
Proceeds from exercise right of warrants to purchase
of ordinary shares
Dividend paid
Increase in non-controlling interests of the subsidiaries
from establishment of new subsidiaries
Net cash flows from (used in) financing activities
Decrease in translation adjustments
Net increase (decrease) in cash and
cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
Supplement cash flows information
Non-cash transactions:
Increase in other accounts payable for

purchases of fixed assets

For the year ended 31 December 2019

Consolidated financial statements

(Unit: Baht)

Separate financial statements

=

- - (999,700) (999,500)

- 159,430,095 - 159,430,095

(189,700) - - -

- - (81,000,000) -
(2,081,000) - - -
6,986 285,562 6,986 285,562
(29,141,974) (20,835,221) (20,167,379) (20,742,021)
(140,000) - - -
(31,545,688) 138,880,436 (102,160,093) 137,974,136
143,771,716 - 144,000,000 -
(903,768) - - -
6,666,400 - 6,666,400 -
(112,514,377) (374,958,972) (112,514,377) (374,958,972)
300 500 - -
37,020,271 (374,958,472) 38,152,023 (374,958,972)
(2,566,895) (453,401) - -
94,636,563 (113,804,948) 54,525,188 (112,708,899)
120,136,539 233,941,487 117,924,309 230,633,208
214,773,102 120,136,539 172,449,497 117,924,309
2,568,697 364,730 2,568,697 364,730

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Sherwood Corporation (Thailand) Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries

Notes to consolidated financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019

1. General information

Sherwood Corporation (Thailand) Public Company Limited (“the
Company”) is a public company incorporated and domiciled in Thailand.
Its major shareholder is TOA Venture Holding Company Limited, which
is incorporated in Thailand. The Company is principally engaged in the
manufacture and distribution of insecticide, cleaning and wood preservative
products. The registered address is as follows:

Head Office: 1065, Srinakarin Road, Suanluang, Bangkok

Factories: 90/1 and 109 Moo 9, Bangwour, Bangprakong, Chacheongsao

2. Basis of preparation

2.1 The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Thai Financial Reporting Standards enunciated under the Accounting

Professions Act B.E. 2547 and their presentation has been made in

compliance with the stipulations of the Notification of the Department
of Business Development dated 11 October 2016, issued under the
Accounting Act B.E. 2543.

The financial statements in Thai language are the official statutory
financial statements of the Company. The financial statements in English
language have been translated from the Thai language financial statements.

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost
basis except where otherwise disclosed in the accounting policies.

2.2 Basis of consolidation

a) The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of Sherwood Corporation (Thailand) Public Company Limited

and its subsidiaries (“the Group”). The details of subsidiaries are as follows:

Country of Percentage of
2019 2018
Percent Percent
Subsidiaries directly owned by the Company
Sherwood Chemicals Australasia Pty Ltd. Distribution of insecticide products Australia 50.00 50.00
Hokkaido Food and Beverage Co., Ltd. Manufacture and distribution of food Thailand 99.95 99.95
products such as milk and syrup
Teepol Professional International Co., Ltd. Distribution of cleaning solution both in Thailand 99.97 -
local and overseas markets

Country of Percentage of
2019 2018
Percent Percent

Subsidiaries indirectly owned by the Company

Held by Hokkaido Food and Beverage Co., Ltd.

Hokkaido Morimoto Co., Ltd. Manufacture and distribution of food Thailand 100.00 -
products such as milk and snacks

Hokkaido International Franchise Co., Ltd. Distribution of food products such as Thailand 99.98 -
milk and snacks

TTD Holding Co., Ltd. Distribution of food products such as Thailand 99.98 -
milk and snacks

b) The Company is deemed to have control over an investee
or subsidiaries if it has rights, or is exposed, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee, and it has the ability to direct the activities
that affect the amount of its returns.

¢) The subsidiaries are fully consolidated, being the date on which
the Company obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the
date when such control ceases.

d) The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared using the
same significant accounting policies as the Company.

e) The assets and liabilities in the financial statements of overseas
subsidiary company are translated to Baht using the exchange rate

prevailing on the end of reporting period, and revenues and expenses

translated using monthly average exchange rates. The resulting differences
are shown under the caption of “Exchange differences on translation of
financial statements in foreign currency” in the statements of changes in
shareholders’ equity.

f) Material balances and transactions between the Group have been
eliminated from the consolidated financial statements.

g) Non-controlling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and
net assets of the subsidiaries that are not held by the Company and are
presented separately in the consolidated profit or loss and within equity in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

2.3 The separate financial statements present investments in

subsidiaries under the cost method. @
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3. New financial reporting standards

(@) Financial reporting standards that became effective in the
current year

During the current year, the Group adopted the revised (revised 2018)
and new financial reporting standards and interpretations which were
effective for fiscal years beginning on or after 1 January 2019. These
financial reporting standards were aimed at alignment with the
corresponding International Financial Reporting Standards with most of the
changes directed towards clarifying accounting treatment and providing
accounting guidance for users of the standards. The adoption of these
financial reporting standards did not have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements. However, the new standard involves changes
to key principles, which are summarised below.

TFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

TFRS 15 supersedes the following accounting standards together with
related interpretations:

TAS 11 (revised 2017)

TAS 18 (revised 2017) Revenue

TSIC 31 (revised 2017)

Construction Contracts

Revenue - Barter Transactions
Involving Advertising Services

TFRIC 13 (revised 2017)

TFRIC 15 (revised 2017)

Customer Loyalty Programmes
Agreements for the Construction
of Real Estate

TFRIC 18 (revised 2017) Transfers of Assets from Customers

Entities are to apply this standard to all contracts with customers
unless those contracts fall within the scope of other standards. The
standard establishes a five-step model to account for revenue arising from
contracts with customers, with revenue being recognised at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The standard
requires entities to exercise judgement, taking into consideration all of the
relevant facts and circumstances when applying each step of the model.

This standard did not have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

(b) Financial reporting standards that will become effective for
fiscal years beginning on or after 1 January 2020

The Federation of Accounting Professions issued a number of new
and revised financial reporting standards and interpretations, which
are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after 1 January 2020. These
financial reporting standards were aimed at alignment with the
corresponding International Financial Reporting Standards with most of the
changes directed towards clarifying accounting treatment and providing
accounting guidance for users of the standards except the following new
standards which involve changes to key principles, which are summarised
below.

Financial reporting standards related to financial instruments

A set of TFRSs related to financial instruments consists of five
accounting standards and interpretations, as follows:
Financial reporting standards:

TFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

TFRS 9 Financial Instruments
Accounting standard:

TAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation

Financial Reporting Standard Interpretations:

TFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation

TFRIC 19  Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments

These TFRSs related to financial instruments make stipulations relating
to the classification of financial instruments and their measurement at fair
value or amortised cost (taking into account the type of instrument, the
characteristics of the contractual cash flows and the entities’ business
model), calculation of impairment using the expected credit loss method,
and hedge accounting. These include stipulations regarding the presentation
and disclosure of financial instruments. When the TFRSs related to financial
instruments are effective, some accounting standards, interpretations and
guidance which are currently effective will be cancelled.

The management of the Group is currently evaluating the impact of
these standards to the financial statements in the year when they are
adopted.

TFRS 16 Leases

TFRS 16 supersedes TAS 17 Leases together with related Interpretations.
The standard sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases, and requires a lessee to recognise
assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months,
unless the underlying asset is low value.

Accounting by lessors under TFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from
TAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify leases as either operating or finance
leases using similar principles to those used under TAS 17.

The management of the Group is currently evaluating the impact of
this standard on the financial statements in the year when it is adopted.

4. Significant accounting policies

4.1 Revenue recognition

Sales of goods

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised at the point in time when
control of the asset is transferred to the customer, generally upon delivery
of the goods. Revenue is measured at the amount of the consideration
received or receivable, excluding value added tax, of goods supplied after
deducting returns, discounts and allowances.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis based on the
effective interest rate.

4.2 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand and at banks, and
all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or
less and not subject to withdrawal restrictions.

4.3 Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable are stated at the net realisable value. Allowance for
doubtful accounts is provided for the estimated losses that may be incurred
in collection of receivables. The allowance is generally based on collection
experience and analysis of debt aging.

4.4 Inventories

Finished goods and work in process are valued at the lower of cost
(under the first-in, first-out method) and net realisable value. The cost
of inventories includes all production costs and attributable factory
overheads.

Raw materials, packing materials, spare parts and factory supplies are
valued at the lower of cost (under the first-in, first-out method) and net

realisable value and are charged to production costs whenever consumed.

®
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4.5 Investments

a) Investments in securities held for trading are stated at fair value.
Changes in the fair value of these securities are recorded in profit or loss.

b) Investments in non-marketable equity securities, which the Group
classifies as other investments, are stated at cost net of allowance for
impairment Loss (if any).

) Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for in the separate finan-
cial statements using the cost method net of allowance for impairment loss
(if any).

The weighted average method is used for computation of the cost of
investments.

4.6 Property, plant and equipment/Depreciation

Land is stated at cost. Buildings and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and allowance for loss on impairment of assets
(if any).

Depreciation of plant and equipment is calculated by reference to

their costs on the straight-line basis over the following estimated useful

lives:
Buildings - 7-30 years
Machinery and equipment - 5-15 years
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment- 5 years
Motor vehicles - 5 years

Depreciation is included in profit or loss.
No depreciation is provided on land, land improvements and assets under
installation.

4.7 Intangible assets

Intangible assets (computer software) are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and allowance for loss on impairment (if any).

Computer software is amortised on a systematic basis over the
economic useful life of 10 years. The amortisation expense is charged to
profit or loss.

4.8 Related party transactions

Related parties comprise individuals or enterprises that control, or are
controlled by, the Group, whether directly or indirectly, or which are under
common control with the Group.

They also include associated companies and individuals which directly
or indirectly own a voting interest in the Group that gives them significant
influence over the Group, key management personnel, directors and officers
with authority in the planning and direction of the operations of the Group.

4.9 Long-term leases

Leases of property, plant or equipment which do not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as
operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense
in profit or loss on a straight line basis over the lease term.

4.10 Foreign currency

The consolidated and separate financial statements are presented
in Baht, which is also the Company’s functional currency. Iltems of each
entity included in the consolidated financial statements are measured using
the functional currency of that entity.

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into Baht at the
exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Baht at the

exchange rate ruling at the end of reporting period.

Gains and losses on exchange are included in profit or loss.

4.11 Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group performs impairment
reviews in respect of the property, plant and equipment and computer
software whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
an asset may be impaired. An impairment loss is recognised when the
recoverable amount of an asset, which is the higher of the asset’s fair
value less costs to sell and its value in use, is less than the carrying amount.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

4.12 Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

Salaries, wages, bonuses and contributions to the social security fund
are recognised as expenses when incurred.

Post-employment benefits and other long-term employee benefits

Defined contribution plans

The Group and its employees have jointly established a provident
fund. The fund is monthly contributed by employees and by the Group.
The fund’s assets are held in a separate trust fund and the contributions
of the Group are recognised as expenses when incurred.

Defined benefit plans and other long-term employee benefits

The Group has obligations in respect of the severance payments it
must make to employees upon retirement under labor law. The Group
treats these severance payment obligations as a defined benefit plan. In
addition, the Group provides other long-term employee benefit plan,
namely long service awards.

The obligation under the defined benefit plan and other long-term
employee benefit plans is determined by a professionally qualified
independent actuary based on actuarial techniques, using the projected
unit credit method.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from defined benefit plan are
recognised immediately in other comprehensive income.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from other long-term employee
benefits are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss on the earlier of the
date of the plan amendment or curtailment and the date that the Group
recognises restructuring-related costs.

4.13 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

4.14 Income tax

Income tax expense represents the sum of corporate income tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

Current income tax is provided in the accounts at the amount
expected to be paid to the taxation authorities, based on taxable profits
determined in accordance with tax legislation.

Deferred tax

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts at the end

of each reporting period, using the tax rates enacted at the end of the

reporting period. @
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The Group recognises deferred tax liabilities for all taxable temporary
differences while they recognises deferred tax assets for all deductible
temporary differences and tax losses carried forward to the extent that it
is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which such
deductible temporary differences and tax losses carried forward can be
utilised.

At each reporting date, the Group reviews and reduces the carrying
amount of deferred tax assets to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised.

The Group records deferred tax directly to shareholders’ equity if the
tax relates to items that are recorded directly to shareholders’ equity.

4.15 Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between buyer and seller
(market participants) at the measurement date. The Group applies a quot-
ed market price in an active market to measure its assets and liabilities that
are required to be measured at fair value by relevant financial reporting
standards. Except in case of no active market of an identical asset or liabil-
ity or when a quoted market price is not available, the Group measures fair
value using valuation technique that are appropriate in the circumstances
and maximises the use of relevant observable inputs related to assets and
liabilities that are required to be measured at fair value.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy
into three levels based on categorise of input to be used in fair value
measurement as follows:

Level 1 - Use of quoted market prices in an active market for such

assets or liabilities

Level 2 - Use of other observable inputs for such assets or liabilities,

whether directly or indirectly

Level 3 - Use of unobservable inputs such as estimates of future

cash flows

At the end of each reporting period, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels within the fair value hierarchy for
assets and liabilities held at the end of the reporting period that are meas-

ured at fair value on a recurring basis.

Consolidated
financial statements

Transactions with subsidiary companies

(eliminated from the consolidated financial
statements)
Sales of goods - -

Other income - R

Transactions with related company

Sales of goods 248 396

2019 2018

5. Use of accounting estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with financial
reporting standards at times requires management to make subjective
judgements and estimates regarding matters that are inherently uncertain.
These judgements and estimates affect reported amounts and disclosures;
and actual results could differ from these estimates. Significant judgements
and estimates are as follows:

Consolidation of subsidiary that the Company holds half of shares

The management of the Company determined that the Company has
control over Sherwood Chemicals Australasia Pty Ltd., even though the
Company holds 50% of shares and voting rights. This is because the Com-
pany has the ability to direct the significant activities. As a result, Sherwood
Chemicals Australasia Pty Ltd. is deemed to be a subsidiary of the Compa-
ny and has to be included in the consolidated financial statements from
the date on which the Company assumed control.

Property plant and equipment/Depreciation

In determining depreciation of plant and equipment, the management
is required to make estimates of the useful lives and residual values of the
plant and equipment and to review estimate useful lives and residual
values when there are any changes.

In addition, the management is required to review property, plant and
equipment for impairment on a periodical basis and record impairment
losses when it is determined that their recoverable amount is lower than
the carrying amount. This requires judgements regarding forecast of future
revenues and expenses relating to the assets subject to the review.

Post-employment benefits under defined benefit plans and oth-
er long-term employee benefits

The obligation under the defined benefit plan and other long-term
employee benefit plans is determined based on actuarial techniques. Such
determination is made based on various assumptions, including discount
rate, future salary increase rate, mortality rate and staff turnover rate.

6. Related party transactions

During the years, the Group had significant business transactions with
related parties. Such transactions, which are summarised below, arose in
the ordinary course of business and were concluded on commercial terms
and bases agreed upon among the Company, its subsidiaries and those

related parties.

(Unit: Million Baht)

Transfer pricing policy

Separate
financial statements

2019 2018

41 a4 Cost plus margin as mutually agreed
1 2 Mutually agreed prices
248 396 Market price
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The balances of the accounts as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 between the Company, its subsidiaries and those related companies are as follows:

Trade receivables - related parties (Note 7)

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated financial statements Separate financial statements

Subsidiaries - - 23,289 20,250
Related company (Common director) 91,337 58,858 91,337 58,858
Total 91,337 58,858 114,626 79,108
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts - - (140) (208)
Total trade receivables - related parties 91,337 58,858 114,486 78,900

Other receivables - related parties (Note 7)

Subsidiaries - - 1,994 -

Short-term loans to subsidiary

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the balance of loans between the Company and a subsidiary and the movement were as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Separate financial statements

Balance as at Balance as

31 December Increase Decrease at 31 December

Company’s name 2018 during the year during the year 2019

Hokkaido Food and Beverage Co., Ltd. - 81,000 - 81,000

The balance represents unsecured short-term loans in the form of promissory notes which are due at call. The loans carry interest at rates of 2 - 3 percent

per annum.

Short-term loan from director

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the balance of short-term loan between a subsidiary and its director and the movement were as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated financial statements

Balance as at Increase Balance as

31 December from business Increase Decrease at 31 December

Company’s name

2018 combination during the year during the year 2019

Hokkaido Morimoto Co., Ltd. - 3,427 - (2,976) 451

The balance represents interest-free loan from a subsidiary’s director. The loan is repayable at call.

Directors and management’s benefits

For the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group had employee benefit expenses payable to its directors and management as below.

(Unit: Million Baht)

Consolidated/Separate
financial statements
Short-term employee benefi 17 21
Post-employment benefits 2 1
Share-based payment (Note 23) 1 -
Total 20 22
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3,957 353 1,367 176
385,280 151,769 356,188 138,376
(19,493) (2,988) (17,093) (2,988)
365,787 148,781 339,095 135,388
457,124 207,639 453,581 214,288
- - 1,334 -
- - 660 -
192 - - -
192 - 1,994 -
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7. Trade and other receivables

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated financial statements

Separate financial statements

Trade receivables - related parties

Aged on the basis of due dates

Not yet due 91,337 58,858 111,419 79,108
Past due

Up to 3 months - - 3,207 -
Total 91,337 58,858 114,626 79,108
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts - - (140) (208)
Net 91,337 58,858 114,486 78,900

Trade receivables - unrelated parties

Aged on the basis of due dates

Not yet due 202,500 92,325 189,859 90,663
Past due
Up to 3 months 154,204 57,108 143,279 45,583
3 - 6 months 16,610 1,563 14,326 1,496
6 - 12 months 8,009 420 7,357 458
Qver 12 months 3,957 353 1,367 176
Total 385,280 151,769 356,188 138,376
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (19,493) (2,988) (17,093) (2,988)
Net 365,787 148,781 339,095 135,388
Total trade receivables - net 457,124 207,639 453 581 214,288

Other receivables

Interest receivables - related parties - - 1,334 -
Advances - related parties - - 660 -
Advances - unrelated parties 192 - - -
Total other receivables 192 - 1,994 -
Total trade and other receivables - net 457,316 207,639 455,575 214,288

8. Inventories

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated financial statements

Reduce cost to net
Inventories - net

realisable value

Raw materials 81,147 121,971 (5,911) (1,536) 75,236 120,435
Finished goods 84,426 71,543 (5,683) (1,135) 78,743 70,408
Work in process 9,638 8,258 (704) - 8,934 8,258
Packing materials 60,004 39,769 (4,616) - 55,388 39,769
Goods in transit 18,655 41,219 - - 18,655 41,219
Total 253,870 282,760 (16,914) (2,671) 236,956 280,089
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(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Separate financial statements

Reduce cost to net

realisable value Inventories - net

Raw materials 74,730 121,971 (5,829) (1,536) 68,901 120,435
Finished goods 70,303 63,262 (5,484) (1,135) 64,819 62,127
Work in process 6,698 8,258 (676) - 6,022 8,258
Packing materials 49,893 39,707 (3,287) - 46,606 39,707
Goods in transit 9,709 31,079 - - 9,709 31,079
Total 211,333 264,277 (15,276) (2,671) 196,057 261,606

During the current year, the Group reduced cost of inventories by Baht
33.4 million (2018: Baht 3.4 million) (The Company only: Baht 31.8 million
2018: Baht 3.4 million), to reflect the net realisable value. This was included

in cost of sales. In addition, the Group reversed the write-down of cost of

9. Investments in subsidiaries

inventories by Baht 19.2 million (2018: Baht 3.4 million) (The Company only:
Baht 19.2 million, 2018: Baht 3.4 million), and reduced the amount of

inventories recognised as expenses during the year.

Details of investments in subsidiaries as presented in the separate financial statements are as follows:

Paid-up capital

Company’s name

Sherwood Chemicals

Australasia Pty Ltd. AUD 20,000 AUD 20,000

Hokkaido Food and
Beverage Co., Ltd. Baht 1 million Baht 1 million

Teepol Professional
International Co., Ltd. Baht 1 million -

Total

9.1 On 30 May 2019, the Company registered the establishment of
Teepol Professional International Company Limited, which is principally
engaged in the distribution of cleaning solution both in local and overseas
markets. This company has a registered share capital of Baht 1 million (10,000
ordinary shares of Baht 100 each) with the Company investing Baht 1 million,
representing 99.97% shareholding.

9.2 On 22 February 2019, the Board of Directors’ meeting of Hokkaido
Food and Beverage Company Limited (“Hokkaido Food”) passed a resolution
approving the purchase of assets related to the manufacturing of crispy
baked peanuts under the brand name of ‘Marucho’ from M P S Enterprises
Limited Partnership. Hokkaido Food entered into the Assets sale and
purchase agreement on 12 March 2019, and Trademark transfer agreement
and related Factory lease agreement on 13 March 2019 with the net assets
value of Baht 27.7 million. The purchase of such assets completed on 13
March 2019 and Hokkaido Food paid for the purchase of such assets on the
same date at Baht 18.6 million. The remaining amount made after 90 days

from the date the transfer of assets completed.

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Shareholding percentage

(%) (%)
50.00 50.00 277 277
99.95 99.95 1,000 1,000
99.97 - 1,000 -
2,277 1,277

The amount of assets relating to the manufacturing of crispy backed

peanuts and the trademark as at 13 March 2019 were as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Inventories 16,340
Other current assets 2,329
Equipment 8,360
Intangible assets 100
Other non-current assets 600

Total 27,729

9.3 On 5 April 2019, the Board of Directors’ meeting of Hokkaido
Food and Beverage Company Limited (“Hokkaido Food”) considered an
investment in the pasteurised milk entity under the brand named “Hokkaido”
through the acquisition of ordinary shares of Hokkaido Morimoto Co., Ltd.,
Hokkaido International Franchise Co., Ltd. and TTD Holding Company
Limited (“Hokkaido Group”). On 6 June 2019, Hokkaido Food entered into

®
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a purchase and sale agreement to purchase ordinary shares of Hokkaido prior to the share purchase and sale date. However, Hokkaido Group did
Group. The investment value is Baht 31 million, representing a 100% inter- not comply with such condition and agreed to sell ordinary shares free of
est. The agreement required Hokkaido Group to maintain debt-free status charge to Hokkaido Food on 23 July 2019.

Net book values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed from Hokkaido Group as at the acquisition date were summarised below.

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Cash and cash equivalents 1,089 At present, Hokkaido Food is in the process of assessing the fair value
Trade and other receivables 5,248 of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date, in
Inventories 3,232 order to allocate costs of the business acquisition to the identifiable items.
Other current assets 2,658 The assessment process mainly involves the identification and valuation of
Plant and equipment (Note 10) 14,867 intangible assets and certain tangible assets. It is to be completed within
Intangible assets (Note 11) 182 the period of twelve months from the acquisition date allowed under
Other non-current assets 6,179 TFRS 3 Business Combinations. During the measurement period, if Hokkaido
Bank overdrafts (2,200) Food obtains additional information relating to facts and circumstances that
Short-term loans from other persons (10,710) existed as of the acquisition date, Hokkaido Food will adjust provisional
Loans from related party (3,170) values recognised at the acquisition date, to reflect this new information.
Long-term loans from financial institutions (Note 15) (6,625) As at 31 December 2019, the Company recorded the difference between
Trade and other payables (21,847) the cash payment for purchases of investments and the net assets of Hok-
Other current liabilities (2,782) kaido Group, amounting to Baht 16.1 million, as a separate item in the
Other non-current liabilities (2,193) consolidated statement of financial position under the caption of “Excess
Net liabilities of the subsidiaries (16,072) of acquisition cost over estimated value of interest acquired in net assets
Add: The difference between the cash payment of subsidiaries”.
for purchases of investments and the net assets Revenue and loss for the year of Hokkaido Group have been included
of the subsidiaries 16,072 in the consolidated statements of income for the year ended 31 December
Cash payment for purchases of investments 2019 since the acquisition date, and amount to Baht 12.5 million and Baht
in subsidiaries - 5.1 million, respectively. If the business combination had taken place on 1
Cash payment for purchases of investments - January 2019, revenue and loss for the year of Hokkaido Group amounting
in subsidiaries - to Baht 54.4 million and Baht 10.9 million, respectively, would have been
Add: Loans to subsidiary 3,170 included in the consolidated statement of income for the year ended 31
Less: Cash and cash equivalents of the subsidiaries (1,089) December 2019.

Net cash payment for purchases of investments

in subsidiaries 2,081
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[} ‘?uﬁ 1 uns1AU 2561 - 110,309 158,870 23,600 2,718 - 295,497
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10. Property, plant and equipment

Cost

As at 1 January 2018
Additions

Disposals

Transfer in (out)

As at 31 December 2018
Additions

Disposals

Transfer in (out)
Increase from business
combination

As at 31 December 2019

Accumulated depreciatior

As at 1 January 2018
Depreciation for the year
Depreciation on disposals
As at 31 December 2018
Depreciation for the year
Depreciation on disposals
Increase from business
combination

As at 31 December 2019
Net book value

As at 31 December 2018

As at 31 December 2019

Depreciation for the year

Consolidated financial statements

(Unit:

Thousand Baht)

Machinery Furniture,

Land and land Elglel xtures & office| Motor Assets under
improvements Buildings equipment equipment vehicles installation Total
113,941 240,841 211,853 30,924 3,663 7,657 608,879
- 121 4,444 2,914 3,880 9,841 21,200
- - (125) (678) (882) - (1,685)
- 540 14,396 924 - (15,860) -
113,941 241,502 230,568 34,084 6,661 1,638 628,394
- 114 10,015 2,865 2,307 16,410 31,711
- - (2,598) (118) - - (2,716)
- - 11,447 - - (11,447) -
- 2,724 30,918 21,051 1,637 - 56,330
113,941 244,340 280,350 57,882 10,605 6,601 713,719
- 110,309 158,870 23,600 2,718 - 295,497
- 8,040 10,901 3,322 682 - 22,945
- - (119) (676) (882) - (1,677)
- 118,349 169,652 26,246 2,518 - 316,765
- 8,062 9,911 3,783 1,146 - 22,902
- - (2,535) (116) - - (2,651)
- 2,721 22,317 14,788 1,637 - 41,463
- 129,132 199,345 44,701 5,301 - 378,479
113,941 123,153 60,916 7,838 4,143 1,638 311,629
113,941 115,208 81,005 13,181 5,304 6,601 335,240
2018 (Baht 20 million included in manufacturing cost, and the balance in selling and administrative expenses) 22,945
2019 (Baht 19 million included in manufacturing cost, and the balance in selling and administrative expenses) 22,902
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(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Separate financial statements

Machinery Furniture,

Land and land and xtures & office Motor Assets under

improvements Buildings equipment equipment vehicles installation Total
Cost
As at 1 January 2018 113,941 240,841 211,853 30,924 3,663 7,657 608,879
Additions - 121 4,444 2,821 3,880 9,841 21,107
Disposals - - (125) (678) (882) - (1,685)
Transfer in (out) - 540 14,396 924 - (15,860) -
As at 31 December 2018 113,941 241,502 230,568 33,991 6,661 1,638 628,301
Additions - 114 3,765 2,447 - 16,410 22,736
Disposals - - (2,598) (118) - - (2,716)
Transfer in (out) - - 11,447 - - (11,447) -
As at 31 December 2019 113,941 241,616 243,182 36,320 6,661 6,601 648,321

Accumulated depreciatior

As at 1 January 2018 - 110,309 158,870 23,600 2,718 - 295,497
Depreciation for the year - 8,040 10,901 3,320 682 - 22,943
Depreciation on disposals - - (119) (676) (882) - (1,677)
As at 31 December 2018 - 118,349 169,652 26,244 2,518 - 316,763
Depreciation for the year - 8,059 8,666 2,881 775 - 20,381
Depreciation on disposals - - (2,535) (116) - = (2,651)
As at 31 December 2019 - 126,408 175,783 29,009 3,293 - 334,493

Net book value

As at 31 December 2018 113,941 123,153 60,916 7,747 4,143 1,638 311,538

As at 31 December 2019 113,941 115,208 67,399 7,311 3,368 6,601 313,828

Depreciation for the year

2018 (Baht 20 million included in manufacturing cost, and the balance in selling and administrative expenses) 22,943
2019 (Baht 18 million included in manufacturing cost, and the balance in selling and administrative expenses) 20,381
As at 31 December 2019, certain items of plant and equipment had approximately Baht 201 million (2018: Baht 171 million) (The Company only:
been fully depreciated but were still in use. The gross carrying amount Baht 171 million, 2018: Baht 171 million).

before deducting accumulated depreciation of those assets amounted to
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1. Intangible assets - Computer software

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

_ Consolidated financial statements Separate financial statements

Cost:

As at 1 January 2018

As at 31 December 2018
Acquisition

Increase from business combination
As at 31 December 2019
Accumulated amortisation:

As at 1 January 2018

Amortisation expenses for the year
As at 31 December 2018
Amortisation expenses for the year
Increase from business combination
As at 31 December 2019

Net book value:

As at 31 December 2018

As at 31 December 2019

13,389 13,389
13,389 13,389
140 -
1,154 -
14,683 13,389
4,745 4,745
1,338 1,338
6,083 6,083
1,428 1,338
972 -
8,483 7,421
7,306 7,306
6,200 5,968

12. Bank overdrafts and short-term loans from financial institutions

Bank overdrafts
Short-term loans from financial institutions

Total

Interest rate

(percent per
annum)

MRR+1
2.30 - 2.50

Consolidated financial statements

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Separate financial statements

1,971 - -
144,000 144,000 -
145,971 144,000 -

The Company’s short-term loans from financial institutions are unsecured loans.

Bank overdrafts of the subsidiary are guaranteed by the subsidiary’s director and secured by the mortgage of land and construction thereon of the sub-

sidiary’s director.

13. Trade and other payables

Trade payables

Other payables

Accounts payable for purchases of fixed assets
Accrued expenses

Total trade and other payables

Consolidated financial statements

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Separate financial statements

310,962 224,753 299,629 225,752
20,907 15,455 17,315 14,566
3,847 1,278 3,847 1,278
6,564 6,971 6,143 6,916
342,280 248,457 326,934 248,512
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14. Short-term loans from other persons

The balance represents the subsidiaries’ short-term loans from other of land and construction thereon of the subsidiary’s director and guaranteed
persons, which are repayable at call. The loan of Baht 4.8 million carries by the subsidiary’s director. The loans of Baht 0.8 million are unsecured
interest at a rate of 5 percent per annum and is secured by the mortgage and interest-free loans.

15. Long-term loans from financial institutions

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Long-term loans from financial institutions 5,721 -
Less: Current portion (2,369) -
Long-term loans from financial institutions, net of current portion 3,352 -

Long-term loans from financial institutions as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Interest rate Repayment schedule Consolidated financial statements

(%)

1 Based on MLR Repayable in monthly installments, and the final installment is due 2,175 -
in January 2022.
2 4.0 Repayable in monthly installments, and the final installment is due 1,073 -
in October 2020.
3 4.0 Repayable in monthly installments, and the final installment is due 2,473 -
in September 2023.

5,721 -

Long-term loans from financial institutions are guaranteed by the subsidiary’s director.

Movement of the long-term loans from financial institutions account during the year ended 31 December 2019 are summarised below.

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Balance as at 1 January 2019 -

Add: Increase from business combination 6,625
Less: Repayment (904)
Balance as at 31 December 2019 5,721
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16. Provision for long-term employee benefits

Provision for long-term employee benefits, which represents compensation payable to employees after they retire, was as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Provision for long-term employee benefits at beginning of year
Included in profit or loss:
Current service cost
Interest cost
Past service costs
Actuarial loss arising from other long-term employee benefits
Included in other comprehensive income:
Actuarial loss
Demographic assumptions changes
Financial assumptions changes
Experience adjustments
Benefits paid during the year

Provision for long-term employee benefits at end of year

On 5 April 2019, The Labor Protection Act (No. 7) B.E. 2562 was an-
nounced in the Royal Gazette. This stipulates additional legal severance
pay rates for employees who have worked for an uninterrupted period of
twenty years or more, with such employees entitled to receive not less
than 400 days’ compensation at the latest wage rate. The law was effective
from 5 May 2019. This change is considered a post-employment benefits
plan amendment and the Group has additional long-term employee ben-

efit liabilities of Baht 9 million (The Company only: Baht 6 million) as a

Significant actuarial assumptions are summarised below.

Consolidated financial statements

Separate financial statements

18,445 18,039 18,445 18,039
2,259 1,476 2,182 1,476
648 450 648 450
8,788 - 6,238 -
494 - 494 -
170 - 170 -
4,503 - 4,503 -
1,423 - 1,423 -
(345) (1,520) (268) (1,520)
36,385 18,445 33,835 18,445

result. The Group reflects the effect of the change by recognising past
service costs as expenses in profit or loss of the current year

The Group expects to pay Baht 3 million of long-term employee
benefits during the next year (2018: Baht 0.3 million) (The Company only:
Baht 3 million, 2018: Baht 0.3 million).

As at 31 December 2019, the weighted average duration of the liabil-
ities for long-term employee benefit is 21 years (2018: 21 years) (The
Company only: 21 years, 2018: 21 years).

(Unit: Percent per annum)

Consolidated financial statements

Separate financial statements

Discount rate
Salary increase rate

Turnover rate

1.27-1.82 2.00 - 2.68 1.27-1.82 2.00 - 2.68
5.00 5.20 5.00 5.20
2.50 - 23.00 2.50 - 22.00 2.50 - 23.00 2.50 - 22.00

The result of sensitivity analysis for significant assumptions that affect the present value of the long-term employee benefit obligation as at 31 December

2019 and 2018 are summarised below.

Discount rate

Salary increase rate

Increase 0.5%

(Unit: Million Baht)
As at 31 December 2019

Consolidated inancial statements Separate financial statements

Decrease 0.5%

Increase 0.5%

Decrease 0.5%

(4) 5
2 2 2 2
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Discount rate

Salary increase rate

17.  Share capital

17.1 On 20 February 2019, the Extraordinary General Meeting of the
Company’s shareholders No.1/2019 passed the resolution to approve a
change in the par value of the Company’s ordinary shares from 150,000,000
ordinary shares with a par value of Baht 1 per share to 300,000,000 ordinary
shares with a par value of Baht 0.50 per share. The Company registered the
change in the par value of the Company’s ordinary shares with the Ministry
of Commerce on 26 February 2019.

17.2 On 20 February 2019, the Extraordinary General Meeting of the
Company’s shareholders No.1/2019 passed the resolution to approve an
increase of the Company’s registered capital of Baht 82,500,000 from the
previous registered capital of Baht 150,000,000 (300,000,000 ordinary shares
of Baht 0.50 each) to the new registered capital of Baht 232,500,000
(465,000,000 ordinary shares of Baht 0.50 each) by issuing 165,000,000 new
ordinary shares at par value of Baht 0.50 per share to support the exercise
of the warrants. The Company registered the increase in its registered share
capital with the Ministry of Commerce on 28 February 2019.

17.3 On 8 October 2019, 6,666,400 warrants (SWC-W1) were exercised.
The Company has issued 6,666,400 ordinary shares to support the exercise
of these warrants. As a result, the Company’s issued and fully-paid share
capital increased from Baht 150,000,000 (300,000,000 ordinary shares
of Baht 0.50 each) to Baht 153,333,200 (306,666,400 ordinary shares of
Baht 0.50 each), and its share premium increased by Baht 3,333,200. The
Company registered the increase in its share capital with the Ministry of
Commerce on 15 October 2019.

18.  Warrants

18.1 On 20 February 2019, the Extraordinary General Meeting of the
Company’s shareholders No.1/2019 passed the following resolutions:

a) Approved the issuance and the allocation of Warrants No.1 (SWC-W1)
in the number of up to 150,000,000 units to the existing shareholders,

20. Expenses by nature

Significant expenses classified by nature are as follows:

Salaries, wages and other employee benefits
Depreciation and amortisation

Advertising and promotion expenses

Raw materials and consumables used
Purchases of finished goods

Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress

Consolidated financial statements

Increase 0.5%

Consolidated financial statements

237,127 213,114 213,401 205,940
24,331 24,282 21,718 24,281
223,631 232,213 214,291 230,680
732,596 802,868 694,625 802,691
54,957 34,052 40,802 39,235
(14,263) 3,577 (5,481) (7,341)

As at 31 December 2018

Separate financial statements

Decrease 0.5% Increase 0.5% Decrease 0.5%

without charge. The exercise ratio is 1 unit of warrant per 1 ordinary share
and the exercise price is Baht 1 per share. The warrants have the maturity
of 3 years from the issuance date and are exercisable in every 6 months
from the issuance date, commencing on 8 October 2019.

On 9 April 2019, the Company allocated the warrants (SWC-W1) of
149,986,998 units to the existing shareholders and will not reallocate the
remaining 13,002 units of these warrants.

b) Approved the issuance and the allocation of Warrants No.1
(ESOP-W1) in the number of up to 15,000,000 units to the Company’s
directors, management and employees, without charged. The exercise ratio
is 1 unit of warrant per 1 ordinary share and the exercise price is Baht 7 per
share. The warrants have the maturity of 5 years from the issuance date
and are exercisable in every 6 months from the issuance date, commencing
after 3-year period from the issuance date.

On 21 June 2019, the Company allocated the warrants (ESOP-W1) of
15,000,000 units to the Company’s directors, management and employees.

18.2 On 8 October 2019, 6,666,400 warrants (SWC-W1) were exercised.
As aresult, as at 31 December 2019, a total of 143,320,598 warrants (SWC-W1)
and 15,000,000 warrants (ESOP-W1) remained unexercised.

19. Statutory reserve

Pursuant to Section 116 of the Public Limited Companies Act B.E. 2535,
the Company is required to set aside a statutory reserve at least 5 percent
of its net profit after deducting accumulated deficit brought forward
(if any), until the reserve reaches 10 percent of the registered capital. The
statutory reserve is not available for dividend distribution. At present, the

statutory reserve has fully been set aside.

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Separate financial statements
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21.  Income tax

Income tax expenses for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 are made up as follows:

Current income tax:

Current income tax charge

Deferred tax:

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences

Income tax expenses reported in profit or loss

Consolidated financial statements

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Separate financial statements

51,282 48,217 49,512 46,171
(8,505) (720) (7,187) (720)
42,777 47,497 42,325 45,451

The amounts of income tax relating to each component of other comprehensive income for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

Deferred tax relating to actuarial loss

The reconciliation between accounting profit and income tax expense is shown below.

Accounting profit before tax
Applicable tax rate
Accounting profit before tax multiplied by income tax rate
Effects of:
Additional expense deductions allowed
Non-deductible expenses

Total

Income tax expenses reported in profit or loss

The components of deferred tax assets are as follows:

Deferred tax assets
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Allowance for diminution in value of inventories
Provision for long-term employee benefits

Total

As at 31 December 2019, the subsidiaries have unused tax losses
totaling Baht 33 million, on which deferred tax assets have not been

recognised as the subsidiaries believe future taxable profits may not be

Consolidated financial statements

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Separate financial statements

(1,219)

Consolidated financial statements

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Separate financial statements

215,692 235,544 213,322 233,288
20 - 30% 20% - 30% 20% 20%
43,917 48,704 42,664 46,658
(890) (970) (890) (970)
(250) (237) 551 (237)
(1,140) (1,207) (339) (1,207)
42,777 47,497 42,325 45,451

Consolidated financial statements

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Separate financial statements

3,926 639 3,447 639
3,383 534 3,055 534
7,277 3,689 6,767 3,689
14,586 4,862 13,269 4,862

sufficient to allow utilisation of the unused tax losses. The unused tax

losses will expire by year 2023.

®
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22. Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing profit for the year
attributable to equity holders of the Company (excluding other compre-
hensive income) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year, after adjusting the number of ordinary shares in proportion
to the change in the number of shares as a result of the change in par
value from Baht 1 each to Bath 0.50 each as discussed in Note 17 to the
financial statements. The number of ordinary shares is adjusted as if the
changes in number of shares and per value had occurred at the beginning

of the earliest period reported.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing profit for the year
attributable to equity holders of the Company (excluding other compre-
hensive income) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares which
would need to be issued to convert all dilutive potential ordinary shares
into ordinary shares. The calculation assumes that the conversion took place
either at the beginning of the year or on the date the potential ordinary

shares were issued.

The following tables set forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share:

Consolidated financial statements

Profit for the year

(Thousand Baht) (Thousand Baht)
Basic earnings per share
Profit attributable to equity
holders of the Company 171,303 185,661
Effect of dilutive potential
ordinary shares
Warrants (SWC-W1)
143,320,598 units - -

Diluted earnings per share

(Thousand shares)

Weighted average
number of ordinary shares

Earnings per share

(Thousand shares) (Baht) (Baht)

301,424 300,000 0.57 0.62

87,706 -

Profit of ordinary
shareholders assuming
the conversion of

dilutive potential

ordinary shares 171,303 -

389,130 - 0.44 -

Separate financial statements

Profit for the year

(Thousand Baht) (Thousand Baht)
Basic earnings per share
Profit attributable to equity
holders of the Company 170,996 187,836
Effect of dilutive potential
ordinary shares

Warrants (SWC-W1)

143,320,598 units - _

(Thousand shares)

Weighted average
number of ordinary shares

Earnings per share

(Thousand shares) (Baht) (Baht)

301,424 300,000 0.57 0.63

87,706 -

Diluted earnings per share
Profit of ordinary
shareholders assuming

the conversion of dilutive

potential ordinary shares 170,996 -

389,130 - 0.44 -

The exercise price of the warrants (ESOP-W1) is higher than the average
market price of the Company’s ordinary shares for the year ended 31

December 2019. Therefore, the Company did not assumed conversion of

the warrants in the calculation of its diluted earnings per share in the

®

consolidated and separate financial statements.
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23. Share-based payment

The Company recognises the share-based payment transactions at the
date on which the options are granted, based on the fair value of the share
options. They are recorded as expenses over the expected life of the share
options, and a capital reserve for share-based payment transactions is
presented in the shareholders’ equity. The estimated fair value of the share
options was calculated by applying the Black-Scholes-Merton formula.

24. Segment information

Operating segment information is reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reports that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating de-
cision maker in order to make decisions about the allocation of resources
to the segment and assess its performance. The chief operating decision
maker has been identified as the president of executive directors.

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units

based on its products as follows:
1) The production and distribution of wood preservative segment
2) The production and distribution of insecticide segment

3) The production and distribution of cleaning segment

The chief operating decision maker monitors the operating results of
the business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and assessing performance. Segment performance is
measured based on operating profit or loss and on a basis consistent with
that used to measure operating profit or loss in the financial statements.

The basis of accounting for any transactions between reportable
segments is consistent with that for third party transactions.

Revenue from external customers is based on locations of the cus-

tomers.

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Revenue from external customers

Thailand 1,546 1,586
Overseas 112 38
Total 1,658 1,624

For the year 2019, the Group has revenue from two major customers

amounting to Baht 647 million (2018: Baht 1,001 million).

The following table presents revenue and profit information regarding the operating segments of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2019 and

2018:
(Unit: Million Baht)
Wood preservative Insecticide Cleaning Others Consolidated
2019 2018 2019 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

Revenues 120 125 1,170 215 238 153 69 1,658 1,624
Segment profit 31 26 527 81 57 26 7 665 639
Unallocated income and expenses:
Other income 7 2

Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses

Finance cost

Income tax expenses

Profit for the year

25. Dividends

(284) (279)
(168) (127)

(a3) (@7)
173 188

Total dividends

Dividend per share

(Million Baht) (GE)

Final dividends for 2017 Annual General Meeting of the shareholders

on 23 April 2018 75.0 0.50
Interim dividends for 2018 Board of Directors’ Meeting

on 20 September 2018 300.0 2.00
Total dividends for 2018 375.0 2.50
Final dividends for 2018 Annual General Meeting of the shareholders

on 26 April 2019 75.0 0.25
Interim dividends for 2019 Board of Directors’ Meeting

on 13 August 2019 375 0.13
Total dividends for 2019 112.5 0.38
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26. Provident fund

The Group and its employees have jointly established a provident
fund in accordance with the Provident Fund Act B.E. 2530. Both employees
and the Group contribute to the fund monthly at the rates of 3 - 5 percent
of basic salary. The fund, which is managed by an authorised fund manag-
er, will be paid to employees upon termination in accordance with the fund
rules. The Group’s contributions for the year 2019 amounting to approxi-
mately Baht 4 million (2018: Baht 4 million) were recognised as expenses

(The Company only: Baht 4 million, 2018: Baht 4 million).

27. Commitments and contingent liabilities

27.1 Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2019, the Company had capital commitments of
approximately Baht 0.7 million (2018: Baht 1.4 million), relating to the ac-
quisition of machinery and equipment.

27.2 Operating lease commitments

The Company has entered into several operating lease agreements in

respect of office building space, motor vehicles and services.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, future minimum lease payments required under these operating leases contracts were as follows:

Payable:
Inup to 1 year

In over 1 and up to 5 years

27.3 Guarantees

As at 31 December 2019, the Company had outstanding bank guaran-
tees of approximately Baht 1 million (2018: Baht 1 million) issued by banks
on behalf of the Company in respect of certain performance bonds as re-
quired in the normal course of business of the Company.

28. Financial instruments

28.1 Financial risk management

The Group’s financial instruments, as defined under Thai Accounting
Standard No.107 “Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentations”,
principally comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, loans,
investments, short-term and long-term loans. The financial risks associated
with these financial instruments and how they are managed is described

below.

Consolidated financial statements

(Unit: Million Baht)

Separate financial statements

Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk primarily with respect to trade
receivables, loans and other receivables. The Group manages the risk by
adopting appropriate credit control policies and procedures and therefore
does not expect to incur material financial losses. The maximum exposure
to credit risk is limited to the carrying amounts of trade receivables, loans
and other receivables as stated in the statement of financial position.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk relates primarily to its cash
at banks, loans, bank overdrafts, short-term and long-term borrowings. Most
of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities bear floating interest rates or

fixed interest rates which are close to the market rate.
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As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, significant financial assets and liabilities classified by type of interest rate are summarised in the table below, with
those financial assets and liabilities that carry fixed interest rates further classified based on the maturity date, or the repricing date if this occur before the

maternity date.

(Unit: Million Baht)

Consolidated financial statements

2019
Fixed interest rates
Within 1-5 Over Floating Non- interest interest rate
1 year years 5 years interest rate bearing Total Effective
(% per annum)
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents - - - 199 16 215 0.22 - 0.375
Trade and other receivables - - - - 457 457 -
- - - 199 473 672
Financial liabilities
Bank overdrafts and
short-term loans from
financial institutions 144 - - 2 - 146 2.30 - MRR+1
Trade and other payables - - - - 342 342 -
Short-term loans from
director and other persons 5 - - - 1 6 5.00
Long-term loans from
financial institutions 2 2 - 2 - 6 See Note 15
151 2 - [ 343 500

(Unit: Million Baht)

Consolidated financial statements

2018
Fixed interest rates
Within 1-5 Over Floating Non- interest interest rate
1 year years 5 years interest rate bearing Total Effective
(% per annum)
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents - - - 78 a2 120 0.25 - 0.375
Trade and other
receivables - - - - 208 208 -
- - - 78 250 328
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables - - - - 248 248 -
- - - - 248 248
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(Unit: Million Baht)

Separate financial statements

2019
Fixed interest rates
Within 1-5 Over Floating Non- interest interest rate
1 year years 5 years interest rate bearing Total Effective
(% per annum)
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents - - - 160 12 172 0.22 - 0.375
Trade and other receivables - - - - 456 456 -
Short-term loans
to subsidiary 81 - - - - 81 2.00 - 3.00
81 - - 160 468 709
Financial liabilities
Bank overdrafts and
short-term loans from
financial institutions 144 - - - - 144 2.00 - 2.50
Trade and other payables - - - - 327 327 -
144 - - - 327 471

(Unit: Million Baht)

Separate financial statements

2018
Fixed interest rates
Within 1-5 Over Floating Non- interest interest rate
1 year years 5 years interest rate bearing Total Effective
(% per annum)
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents - - - 78 40 118 0.25-0.375
Trade and other receivables - - - - 214 214 -
- - - 78 254 332
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables - - - - 248 248 -
- - - - 248 248

Foreign currency risk
The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk arises mainly from trading transactions that are denominated in foreign currencies. The Group seeks to

reduce this risk by entering into forward exchange contracts when it considers appropriate. Generally, the forward contracts mature within one year.
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As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the balances of financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are summarised below.

Consolidated financial statements

Foreign currency Financial assets

Financial liabilities

Average exchange rate

(Million) (Million) (Million) (Million) (Baht per 1 foreign currency unit)
US dollar 0.5 0.8 0.13 30.2233 32.7054
Australian dollar 0.9 0.6 - 20.7713 23.4414

Separate financial statements

Foreign currency Financial assets Financial liabilities Average exchange rate

(Million) (Million) (Million) (Million) (Baht per 1 foreign currency unit)
US dollar 0.4 0.8 0.13 0.01 30.2233 32.7054
Australian dollar 1.0 0.9 - - 20.7713 23.4414

The Company’s outstanding foreign exchange contracts as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 are summarised below.

Consolidated/Separate financial statements

2019
Contractual exchange rate
Bought Sold Contractual
Foreign currency amount amount Bought Sold maturity date
(Million) (Million) (Baht per 1 foreign currency unit)
Australian dollar - 0.15 - 20.62 - 20.68 7 May 2020 - 12 June 2020

Consolidated/Separate financial statements

2018
Contractual exchange rate
Bought Sold Contractual
Foreign currency amount amount Bought Sold maturity date
(Million) (Million) (Baht per 1 foreign currency unit)
Australian dollar - 0.11 - 23.09 17 June 2019
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28.2 Fair values of financial instruments

Since the majority of the Group’s financial instruments are short-term
in nature or carrying interest at rates close to the market interest rates, their
fair value is not expected to be materially different from the amounts
presented in the statement of financial position.

The methods and assumptions used by the Group in estimating the
fair value of financial instruments are as follows:

a) For financial assets and liabilities which have short-term maturity,
including cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and short-term
loans, accounts payable and short-term borrowings, their carrying amounts
in the statement of financial position approximate their fair value.

b) For fixed rate long-term loans, their fair value is estimated by dis-
counting expected future cash flow by the current market interest rate of
the loans with similar terms and conditions.

c) For long-term loans carrying interest approximate to the market
rate, their carrying amounts in the statement of financial position approxi-
mates their fair value.

During the current year, there were no transfers within the fair value

hierarchy.
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29. Capital management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure
that it has appropriate capital structure in order to support its business and
maximise shareholder value. As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s
debt-to-equity ratio was 0.85:1 (2018: 0.47:1) and the Company’s debt-to-eq-
uity ratio was 0.81:1 (2018: 0.48:1).

30. Events after the reporting period

On 28 February 2020, the Company’s Board of Directors’ meeting
passed the resolution to propose the Annual General Meeting of sharehold-
ers approve a dividend payment of Baht 0.375 per share. Since an interim
dividend of Baht 0.125 per share, or a total of Baht 37.5 million, was already
distributed to the shareholders in September 2019, the remaining final
dividend is Baht 76.7 million (Baht 0.25 per share).

31 Approval of financial statements

These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Company’s

Board of Directors on 28 February 2020.
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General |nformation

Company Name : Sherwood Corporation (Thailand) Public Company Limited
Initial : SWC

Home Page : www.sherwood.co.th

Company Registration No.: 0107547000346

Share Capital : Registered Capital

465,000,000 ordinary shares of Baht 0.50 each
Issued and Paid-Up Capital
306,666,400 ordinary shares of Baht 0.50 each, fully paid

Type of Business : Manufactures and markets chemical products for household industrial public health and agrochemicals

Subsidiary
As of 31 December 2019

0
eI Typ.e o Share Capital ) 9f Head Office Telephone
name Business Holding

Sherwood.Chemicals Markets chemical products for AUD 20,000 registered and paid-up 50.00 Level 3, 1060 Hay Street, +61 892194683  +61892194672
Australasia Proprietary household and industrial use capital with 2,000 ordinary shares West Perth, WA 6005 Australia
Limited of AUD 10 each
Hokkaido Food and Manufactures and markets Registered Capital 1,000,000 Baht 99.95 1065 Srinakarin Rd., Suanluang, 0-2320-2288 0-2320-2670
Beverage product for all food such as divided in to 10,000 shares at a par Suanluang Bangkok 10250
Company Limited milk and snack value of Baht 100 each
Teepol Professional Manufactures and markets Registered Capital 1,000,000 Baht 99.97 1065 Srinakarin Rd., Suanluang, 0-2320-2288 0-2320-2670
International all cleaning products divided in to 10,000 shares at a par Suanluang Bangkok 10250
Company Limited for domestic and international value of Baht 100 each
Contact

Investor Relation : Telephone no. : 0-2320-2288

E-mail : ir@sherwood.co.th
Company Secretary : Telephone no. : 0-2320-2288

E-mail : internalaudit@sherwood.co.th
Head Offic : 1065 Srinakarin Rd., Suanluang, Suanluang, Bangkok 10250

Telephone no. : 0-2320-2288

Fax no. : 0-2320-2670
Office 1 : Wellgrow Industrial Estate, Km.36, Bangna-Trad, 90/1 Moo 9, Bangwua, Bangpakong District, Chachoengsao 24180

Telephone no. : 0-3852-2302 Fax no. 0-3852-2311
Office 2 : Wellgrow Industrial Estate, Km.36, Bangna-Trad, 109 Moo 9, Bangwua, Bangpakong District, Chachoengsao 24180
Telephone no. : 0-3898-9120 Fax no. 0-3898-9125

References
Securities Registrar : Thailand Securities Depository Co., Ltd.
93 The Stock Exchange of Thailand Building, Ratchadapisek Rd., Dindaeng, Bangkok 10400
Telephone no. : 0-2009-9000, 0-2009-9991
Auditor: 1. Mr. Supachai Phanyawattano
Certified Public Accountant (Thailand) No. 3930 and/or
2. Miss. Krongkaew Limkittikul
Certified Public Accountant (Thailand) No. 5874 and/or
3. Mr. Natthawut Santipet
Certified Public Accountant (Thailand) No. 5730
EY Office Limited 193/136-137 Lake Rajada Office Complex 33rd Floor Rajadapisek Road
Klongtoey Bangkok 10110
Telephone no. : 0-2264-9090
Fax no. : 0-2264-0789-90

“For additional information, please log on to www.sec.or.th or www.sherwood.co.th for Company’s Annual information filing (56-1)”
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Sherwood Corporation (Thailand) Public Company Limited
1065 Srinakarin Road, Suanluang, Suanluang, Bangkok 10250



